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Fortune	Oil	PLC	is	listed	in	London	with	its	operational	
headquarters	in	Hong	Kong.	The	Company	focuses	on	
oil	and	gas	supply	and	infrastructure	projects	in	China.	
Company	shares	are	held	by	the	public	(45.90	per	cent),	
First	Level	Holdings	Limited	(39.09	per	cent),	Vitol	(8.61	
per	cent)	and	major	Chinese	state-owned	corporations	
(6.40	per	cent).
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Introduction
In 2006 China achieved the highest growth rate for over  
a decade and China’s GDP exceeded that of the United 
Kingdom. Fortune Oil’s sales and profit continue to grow as 
we expand our operations in China and in 2006 achieved 
the largest operating profit to date: earnings attributable  
to shareholders increased by 54 per cent to £4.3 million. 
Fortune Oil also made a key strategic move upstream  
into coal bed methane development, becoming the first 
independent energy distributor in China to explore for gas.

Over the past year it has been clear that China’s energy 
markets are opening more rapidly, driven by increasing 
demand, particularly for clean energy. Fortune Oil is uniquely 
positioned as an international company operating both oil 
and gas ventures onshore China and we now have projects 
in development that will move the Company to a different 
level. We have also recently secured a US$50 million term 
loan facility to exploit these opportunities and to fund more 
rapid development of the Company.

Results
In 2006 the natural gas business tripled its volume gas sales 
and achieved a profit from operations of £1.2 million after 
breaking even in 2005. Throughput of crude oil at the SPM 
was at a record high and exceptional gains from statutory 
funds augmented the profit increase. Jet fuel sales at 
Bluesky continued to grow and a government compensation 

chairman’s statement

Fortune	Oil	is	uniquely	positioned	as	an	international	
company	operating	both	oil	and	gas	ventures	onshore	
China.	We	intend	to	exploit	supply	opportunities	as	
the	oil	sector	opens	and	to	create	one	of	the	first	
independent	integrated	gas	companies	in	China.

mechanism for high jet fuel prices enabled profits to recover 
for the second half of the year. High diesel prices continued 
to affect operations at the West Zhuhai Terminal but our 
trading business began to flourish in late 2006 as we 
commenced imports and exports of non-regulated products 
on a low risk but higher margin basis.

The Group’s revenues (including share of jointly controlled 
entities) increased by 23 per cent to £176 million. Earnings 
per share increased by 50 per cent to 0.24 pence from  
0.16 pence in 2005. This was in spite of a 10 per cent 
appreciation of pound sterling against China’s renminbi 
currency in 2006. The Board does not recommend payment 
of a dividend in respect of 2006 but will continue to review 
dividend policy.

Over the last four years the Company has significantly 
exceeded its performance targets, as measured by our  
Key Performance Indicators. The underlying net profit 
attributable to equity shareholders before exceptionals  
was £3.5 million in 2006, an increase of 16 per cent over 
2005. Since 2003 this has increased on average by 52  
per cent per year, compared to our target of 15 per cent. 
Earnings per share have increased annually on average by 
43 per cent in the same period, Group revenues (including 
share of jointly controlled entities) have increased by 21  
per cent per year. The Company’s volume gas sales have 
increased annually by 180 per cent compared to our target 
of 30 per cent.

Governance
In 2006 the size of the Board was reduced and the 
proportion of Independent Directors increased. Mr Li De,  
Mr Feng Xuechang and Mr Yang Chunshu had been  
Non-executive Directors representing shareholders in the 
Company and they retired without replacement in 2006, as 
did our Executive Vice-Chairman Mr Bruce McGowan. We 
would like to thank them all for their invaluable contributions 
over the years.

Ms Louisa Ho stepped down as Finance Director but 
remains on the Board as Non-executive Director with 
responsibility for corporate governance issues. We 
strengthened the management team by promoting  

0

1

2

4

3

5

Profit Attributable to Shareholders 
£ million

2006200520042003

0

1

2

3

4

5



�	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

recent growth in cross-border trading. We have also 
declared our intent to create one of the first independent 
integrated gas companies in China, combining our gas 
distribution expertise and assets with our new coal bed 
methane opportunities. There are substantial growth 
opportunities in all sectors of the gas chain in China, 
particularly given the insatiable demand in China for clean 
energy and the steadily increasing gas prices. Fortune Oil  
is now making major steps forward in helping China develop 
its energy industry and in providing profit growth for our 
shareholders.

Qian Benyuan
Chairman
11 May 2007

chairman’s statement

Mr Sammy Ng to Group Financial Controller and appointing 
Mr Tian Jun as Chief Operating Officer and we also 
appointed a CBM Operations Manager and Group HSE 
Manager during the year. There has been a particular focus 
on HSE in 2006 and this Annual Report contains more 
details on safety and environmental issues.

Future Developments
We announced with our 2006 preliminary results that  
the Company had raised significant debt financing. A 
syndicate of international banks committed US$50 million of 
term finance, the largest fund raising to date by the 
Company. For many years Fortune Oil relied upon its major 
shareholders for financing and the gearing ratio was very 
low. We have taken advantage of the current strong liquidity 
in the debt markets to finance the opportunities now 
emerging in the China energy market, particularly in energy 
infrastructure, methane recovery and oil products supply.

We have already been exploiting opportunities developing 
around our terminals and supply activities, such as the 
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Overview
In 2006 revenues including the Group’s share of jointly 
controlled entities were £176 million compared with  
£143 million in 2005 and profit from operations increased  
68 per cent to £9.6 million. The profit attributable to equity 
shareholders increased by over 50 per cent to £4.3 million 
from £2.8 million in 2005. Earnings per share were 0.24 
pence in 2006, compared to 0.16 pence in 2005.

The natural gas business was a major contributor to profit 
growth. Gas sales increased substantially in every gas 
operation and the Tongzhou CNG station had its first full 
year of operation, resulting in a tripling in total sales. The net 
profit achieved at both Bluesky and West Zhuhai was similar 
to 2005 while exceptional items over the past two years 
contributed to a 60 per cent profit increase at the Maoming 
SPM for 2006.

Net assets at the end of 2006 were £50.0 million, little 
changed from the previous year because of a 10 per cent 
appreciation in pound sterling against China’s currency 
(RMB), the principle currency for the Group’s revenues and 
expenses. Under the terms of a Court approved capital 
reduction scheme during 2006, the Company cancelled the 
balance on its share premium account against a negative 
retained earnings balance, so as to create reserves for 
possible dividend distribution in future.

Over the past year Fortune Oil has made a strategic step  
of entering the upstream gas business by acquiring control 
of the exploration rights for coal bed methane (CBM) in  
the Liulin block, Shanxi Province. Within a few months of 
acquiring this interest we had assembled a professional 
CBM team and begun drilling two pilot production wells. 
Development of China’s CBM resources is a government 
priority for preventing coal mine accidents, reducing 
emissions of greenhouse gases and recovering valuable 
methane gas. We are also very excited about the prospects 
for Fortune Oil in being able to integrate our gas distribution 
business with this and other CBM recovery opportunities.

China Energy Industry
Last year China’s energy industry resumed its surging 
growth after a brief slow-down in 2005. GDP has increased 
over 10 per cent per year since 2003 and growth over the 
past year is at a record high. The combination of higher 
energy prices, surging demand and pressures to liberalise 
markets create a dynamic environment. The Chinese 
authorities are increasingly emphasising the need for  
higher standards of safety, efficiency and environmental 
protection. Participation by companies such as Fortune Oil 
to implement these measures is thus particularly welcome.

Operations
In 2006 volume sales at the Bluesky aviation refuelling  
joint venture (South China Bluesky Aviation Oil Company) 
grew 12 per cent to 1.45 million tonnes. In the first half of 
2006 Bluesky’s profit was adversely affected by high prices 
for international jet fuel that could not be passed onto 
customers but a government compensation mechanism 
restored the margin from mid-2006. As a result Bluesky’s 
net profit in 2006 was £9.4 million (US$17.4 million), similar 
to 2005 (£9.6 million, US$17.4 million). This ongoing 
compensation mechanism will ensure that the airlines, 
rather than Bluesky, pay for any price differential between 
domestic and international jet fuel. Bluesky continues to 
invest in new infrastructure, particularly at Guangzhou 
Baiyun International Airport where the new FedEx Asia hub 
will open in 2008. The aviation sector continues to boom 
and Fortune Oil is one of the few private sector participants 
in China’s aviation refuelling business.

Throughput at the Maoming SPM (MKM subsidiary) was 
the highest on record. The volume of crude oil delivered 
increased 11 per cent to 10.8 million tonnes as a result of 
higher utilisation at the Maoming refinery and upgrades now 
allowing the single point mooring buoy to handle 300,000 
dwt tankers. A change in PRC company law allowed MKM 
to write-back surplus amounts in the statutory staff welfare 
fund accrual, thereby providing an exceptional credit of  
£1.9 million. The net profit increased 60 per cent in 2006 to 
£6.7 million compared to £4.2 million in 2005 largely as a 
result of these exceptional write-backs in 2006 and a write-
off for the old buoy in 2005. The Maoming SPM continues 
to be a unique asset. It is the only foreign-controlled crude 
oil facility and the only offshore oil import system in China 
and it has safely and reliably supplied the largest refinery in 
southern China for over a dozen years.

chief executive’s review
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The Company’s natural gas operations had 81,479 
household customers by the end of the year and we  
operate 511 km of pipelines and a fleet of CNG trucks. 
There were 10,100 new contracted connections in 2006, 
mostly to new residential apartments. The China gas 
business is still at an early stage of development with  
low penetration rates, so our existing infrastructure has 
substantial growth opportunities. The Company continues 
to benefit from its partnership with the PetroChina affiliate 
which operates the supply pipelines to Beijing. However,  
the Company needs to ensure independent reliable sources 
of supply for its future gas businesses, which we intend to 
source from coal bed methane.

In 2006 we made a strategic step into the development  
of CBM through acquiring a controlling interest in the Liulin 
CBM block in Shanxi Province. Liulin is regarded as one  
of the top-ranked areas for CBM development in China. 
There is considerable geological data available and the gas 
in place was estimated at 40.5 billion m3 (1.4 trillion cubic 
feet) by a recent study commissioned by the Company.  
The foreign contractor rights in the block’s Production 
Sharing Contract are now owned by Fortune Liulin Gas,  
a joint venture held 60 per cent by Fortune Oil and 40 per 
cent by Molopo Australia Limited, an experienced CBM 
developer. The block is still in the exploration phase and 
Fortune Oil’s 60 per cent controlling interest is in return  
for funding the first US$2.5 million of an initial appraisal 
programme. Two vertical pilot wells are now in production 
testing and further appraisal work including data wells are 
planned. Most of the initial funding commitment has now 
been provided but only US$0.7 million of this was incurred 
in 2006.

Fortune Oil has rapidly acquired an important presence  
in China’s CBM industry and an understanding of the key 
opportunities and risks. Development of the country’s vast 
CBM resources is a government priority under the 11th Five 
Year Plan. Our focus is in Shanxi Province, the largest coal-
mining and CBM region, and where the Company already 
has a natural gas distribution business. Fortune Oil is now 
one of the largest foreign companies in China’s CBM 
industry and the first gas distributor to be exploring for gas.

chief executive’s review

Net profit at the West Zhuhai Oil Products Terminal  
joint venture was similar to 2005, at £2.0 million  
(US$3.7 million), of which the Group’s share was £0.5 
million. Supply disruptions continued in the region due to 
high international diesel prices and a sunken barge in the 
port channel also affected operations for a month. As a 
result total throughput and trans-shipment volumes were 
1.9 million tonnes, lower than in previous years. PetroChina, 
a 45 per cent shareholder in the terminal, remained the only 
customer in 2006 because of the import licensing regime. 
However we expect additional parties to use the facility in 
future following the granting of a long-awaited licence to 
store bonded-status products in December. This vindicated 
the Company’s decision in 2006 to acquire Vitol’s interest in 
the terminal, thereby increasing our shareholding to 37 per 
cent. As part of this acquisition we also agreed to purchase 
the Vitol Group’s 22.5 per cent interests in the Fu Duo LPG 
subsidiary, which remains a break-even business.

Our independent Trading business expanded in late 2006 
as our extensive network of commercial relationships  
in China enabled us to take advantage of new trading 
opportunities. We commenced the import and export  
of non-regulated products such as bitumen, base oil  
and petrochemicals on a low-risk agency or back-to- 
back basis, with a higher margin than our previous pure 
domestic activities. The trading business, including our 
gasoline retail stations, made an earnings contribution of 
£0.3 million, compared to break-even in 2005, and we 
expect further growth in 2007.

Sales of Natural Gas surged to 122 million cubic metres 
(m3), a 260 per cent increase over the previous year  
(34 million m3). The Fortune Gas subsidiary contributed  
£1.2 million in profit from operations in 2006 after a break-
even year in 2005. A significant fraction of the sales  
(43 million m3) were as Compressed Natural Gas (CNG)  
from the Tongzhou station, which is now one of the largest 
suppliers of CNG in Beijing. In addition every gas operation 
achieved substantial growth in sales and profit in 2006, 
particularly the spur pipelines.
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Our Community
Fortune Oil has managed oil and gas facilities in China  
for 14 years with a track record of reliable and safe 
operation. At end 2006 these operations employed 1,425 
staff, almost all mainland Chinese. Our companies provide 
attractive careers for our staff, as illustrated by our relatively 
low turnover rate, and they are key businesses in their 
respective communities.

The Company’s HSE targets include minimising accidental 
release of hydrocarbons from all our operating companies  
to the environment. As a supplier of clean energy with no 
manufacturing facilities, our carbon footprint is low and  
our emissions of pollutants are also low for the oil and gas 
industry. Over the past year the Company has formulated 
policies for safety and environmental protection, which are 
posted on our website and we appointed a Group HSE 
Manager to conduct safety training and to enhance HSE 
awareness. We are particularly concerned now about the 
high risks of accidents on roads in China.

Post Balance Sheet Term Loan
The Company recently announced the signing of a  
US$50 million loan facility for Fortune Oil PRC Holdings 
Limited, the Company’s principal holding company in  
Hong Kong. The facility is a dual currency (US dollars and 
Hong Kong dollars) term loan with a term of 3 years and a 
margin of 1.1% above LIBOR or HIBOR. The covenants are 
standard for this type of syndicated loan and the facility is 
guaranteed by Fortune Oil PLC.

The Mandated Lead Arrangers are Industrial and 
Commercial International Capital Ltd (ICIC) and Oversea-
Chinese Banking Corporation Limited (OCBC). A total of  
18 international and regional banks participated in the 
transaction. The facility size was over-subscribed to  
US$50 million.

The proceeds will be used to finance Fortune Oil’s 
investment requirements in the China energy sector.  
This will include further development of the Liulin CBM 
block, new opportunities in relation to the recovery  
and utilisation of methane gas in Shanxi Province, new 
downstream gas projects and acquisitions and new 
investments in the supply of refined products. We expect  
to make announcements concerning these new 
opportunities over the coming months.

Outlook
It is remarkable how rapidly China has changed from 
emerging giant to global leader, from closed energy market 
to the world’s number two consumer. China understands 
the importance of making best use of its energy resources 
both from an economic and environmental perspective. 
Foreign companies are increasingly being encouraged  
to take a lead in this. Fortune Oil is one of the very few 
international companies to have made inroads into the 
onshore oil & gas markets and we intend to make a major 
contribution to the development of China’s domestic energy 
supplies. We intend to be at the leading edge of methane 
gas recovery and distribution, creating potentially the first 
independent integrated gas company in China; and we 
intend to exploit supply and terminals opportunities as  
the oil markets gradually open. We remain confident of 
sustained growth in shareholder value.

Li Ching
Chief Executive
11 May 2007

chief executive’s review
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business review

OUR COMPANY

Fortune Oil PLC focuses on oil and gas supply and 
infrastructure projects in China. For fourteen years we have 
been developing and operating projects for the safe and 
reliable supply of fuels to businesses and households. The 
Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange official 
list and the operational headquarters is in Hong Kong.

China is the world’s second largest energy market and the 
recent growth in GDP and energy demand is unparalleled  
in history. Fortune Oil seeks to exploit opportunities in the  
oil and gas and infrastructure sectors as the China market 
opens, predominantly in partnership with major Chinese 
companies. Our portfolio to date includes the following 
investments:

• A Single Point Mooring (SPM) facility, a subsidiary which 
delivers crude oil to one of Sinopec’s largest refineries, 
at Maoming in Guangdong Province.

• The Bluesky aviation refuelling joint venture with BP and 
China National Aviation Fuel Company, which supplies 
jet fuel to 15 airports in central and southern China.

• A refined products supply and trading business which 
includes shareholdings in import and distribution 
terminals, in particular a 37 per cent stake in a diesel 
and gasoline terminal with PetroChina at West Zhuhai  
in Guangdong Province.

• A natural gas distribution business which controls 
pipelines, reticulation systems and CNG facilities in  
north China, and supplies over 80,000 customers.

• Development of coal bed methane (CBM) opportunities 
in Shanxi Province, with exploration investment in the 
Liulin block for production of methane gas.

Our strategy in developing these businesses and seeking 
new opportunities is to:

• Create potentially the first independent integrated  
gas business in China, as access to upstream gas  
will provide significant synergies for downstream 
distribution;

• Develop opportunities focused around oil products 
supply and terminals, exploiting our unique position  
as the oil markets open further to private sector 
participation.

This Business Review has been prepared in accordance 
with the recommendations of the Accounting Standards 
Board, as appropriate for our operating environment in 
China and the size of the Company. The information is 
intended for the Company’s shareholders and should not be 
relied on by any other party or for any other purpose. The 
review contains certain forward-looking statements made  
in good faith by the Directors based on the information 
available to them at the time of this report’s approval.

Key Performance Indicators
The Board considers the following objectives to be Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs):

• To increase earnings per share by more than 15 per cent 
per year over the long term;

• To achieve a growth in net profit of above 15 per cent 
per year over the long term, as measured by profit after 
tax and before exceptional items (the performance 
measure used in the LTIP);

• To increase the Group’s revenues (including share of 
jointly controlled entities) by more than 10 per cent  
per year;

• To increase the volume sales of natural gas by over  
30 per cent per year;

• To ensure safe operation for our personnel, as measured 
by Lost Time Injuries Frequency Rate (LTIFR); and

• To minimise the accidental release of hydrocarbons from 
all our operating companies to the environment.

The defined targets for these KPIs were exceeded in 2006.
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CHINA REVIEW

Energy Demand and Supply
China’s GDP grew by 10.7 per cent in 2006, the fastest 
growth rate for a decade, making China the world’s fourth 
largest economy. China’s foreign exchange reserves 
reached US$1 trillion in December, the largest in the world. 
Both exports and domestic consumption continue to rise 
strongly so far in 2007.

According to China’s National Bureau of Statistics, the 
apparent demand for crude oil grew by 7.1 per cent to  
321 million tonnes in 2006. Imports of crude oil rose by  
14 per cent in 2006 to 145 million tonnes, accounting for  
45 per cent of total demand, mostly sourced from Africa 
and Middle East. China’s official domestic oil reserves were 
revised down in March 2007 to 2.0 billion tonnes of oil, 
representing 11 years at current production rates.

The import of refined products in 2006 increased by 11  
per cent to 40 million tonnes. Most of the products imports 
are of fuel oil for power generation and for refining, but the 
largest growth sector continues to be kerosene/jet fuel, 
mainly for the aviation sector, imports of which increased  
71 per cent in 2006 to 5.6 million tonnes.

The natural gas sector continues to grow rapidly with  
supply and infrastructure being the major constraint. Gas 
production increased by 19 per cent in 2006 to 59 billion 
cubic metres (bcm) plus 1 bcm of LNG imports. Natural gas 
is regarded as a premium fuel and still only represents 3 per 
cent of China’s fossil fuel consumption, compared with 20 
per cent worldwide. China’s proven reserves of conventional 
natural gas are 2.4 trillion cubic metres, equivalent to 40 
years of current production, but most is located in Western 
basins far from the population centres. The nation plans  
to import substantial gas reserves by pipeline from Russia 
and as LNG from overseas, most of which will take at  
least five years to implement. This puts added pressure  
on developing unconventional domestic gas reserves such 
as CBM in Shanxi Province which are closer to demand 
centres.

Total electricity production in 2006 increased by 14  
per cent, similar to the growth rate for the past four years. 
Each year China is now adding on average the equivalent  
of the UK’s entire generating capacity, and the power 
shortages experienced in 2005 have eased. Most new 
capacity is coal-fired and installed by state-controlled 
companies. Coal continues to supply over 80% of the 
power needs because of the country’s abundant reserves, 
with hydro-electric, nuclear and gas supplying the balance. 

Gas fired power stations currently represent only 16 GW  
of capacity and they have yet to prove their commercial 
viability in China.

China’s National Development and Reform Commission 
(NDRC) has reaffirmed the country’s intent to increase the 
use of natural gas in the overall energy mix, aiming for the 
fuel to take 5.3% of the energy mix by 2010 at the expense 
of coal.

business review
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Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection
China’s policy goals provide for the building of an energy-
efficient society. Under the 11th Five Year Plan in 2006, 
energy consumption per unit of GDP is to be cut by 4 per 
cent per year from 2005 until 2010. Numerous initiatives 
were started to oblige local governments and companies  
to conserve energy, but the target 4 per cent saving was  
not attained in 2006. The government is now forcing large 
energy users such as steel mills to implement energy-saving 
measures, for example to use waste steam in power 
generation. Recovery of methane from coal beds (as CBM) 
and coal mines (as CMM) is also a key focus of the 11th  
Five Year Plan.

The government has reaffirmed its intention to reduce 
pollution, in particular sulphur dioxide emissions by 10  
per cent from 2006 to 2010. In early 2007 the State 
Environmental Protection Administration (SEPA) banned 
many large industrial projects as they did not conform  
to the new standards. Emissions trading schemes have 
been operating for some years on a local basis to control 
emissions of certain pollutants and there are now plans  
to establish climate exchanges for the wider trading of 
environmental products such as carbon dioxide (CO2).
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Many energy-efficiency schemes and methane recovery 
projects could benefit from carbon emission credits as they 
reduce the net amount of CO2 that would otherwise be 
emitted to the atmosphere. These credits could be traded  
in the international markets, for example through the clean 
development mechanism scheme (CDM) under the Kyoto 
Protocol. Currently China is the world’s second largest 
emitter of greenhouse gases after USA and is the largest 
emitter of methane gas. The projects designed to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions now make China the largest 
single supplier of CDM credits. A number of projects 
currently being developed by Fortune Oil could be eligible 
for CDM credits.

Market Regulation
The petroleum sector in China continues to be dominated 
by the state-controlled domestic oil companies and the 
pricing of many refined products is set by the government 
through the NDRC. In order to mitigate the effect of high  
oil prices on the economy and the rural population, the 
government has not increased domestic prices for diesel, 
gasoline and kerosene/jet fuel in line with international 
prices. As a result the domestic oil refineries, mostly owned 
by Sinopec and PetroChina, have incurred significant losses 
over the past two years. The supply of refined products was 
disrupted as imports became unprofitable.

The government has a stated long-term intention to bring 
domestic prices in line with international prices. This  
was apparent in the NDRC directive obliging airlines to 
compensate jet fuel suppliers such as Bluesky for the 
differential between domestic and international jet fuel 
prices. Ultimately the government believes that the full jet 
fuel price should be passed onto the passengers.

Cross-border trading of certain refined products such as 
LPG and fuel oil are now deregulated and these markets  
are highly competitive. However cross-border trade of the 
key transportation fuels (gasoline, diesel and jet fuel) is still 
tightly controlled. In December 2006 China announced new 
measures for opening up the oil markets, as obligated under 
the WTO agreements. While these measures clarify the 
criteria for foreign participation in cross-border oil supply, 
refining, wholesale and retail markets, in practice there 
remain significant hurdles for foreign companies in these 
sectors. Restrictions on foreign or private sector investment 
continue to apply in many oil and gas sectors. However 
where such investment is allowed, the authorities typically 
provide a range of incentives to encourage investment to 

meet energy demand growth. For example many of the 
Company’s operations such as Bluesky and Fortune Gas 
have exclusivity rights and face no direct competition in 
supply.

In the natural gas sector the prices at the well-head for 
petroleum gas fields and along the trunk pipelines are  
set by the NDRC and the state oil companies remain the 
major investors in these operations. However for local gas 
distribution there is only limited central government control 
and few restrictions on private or foreign investment. While 
local authorities generally set a limit on residential gas  
price, based on affordability or the price of competing fuels 
(normally LPG), prices in the distribution chain are generally 
set by commercial negotiation.

The price of gas in China is far less volatile than in OECD 
markets such as UK and prices for residential users are  
still among the lowest in the world (typically RMB 2.1 m3 or 
US$7.5/MMBTU in Beijing). The gas price in China is widely 
expected to increase over the next five years: the price 
along the gas chain is already increasing by 5 to 10 per cent 
per year and China is now agreeing to accept much higher 
prices for LNG that will be imported after 2010. This will 
allow a greater margin for any company investing along the 
whole gas chain, which is Fortune Oil’s declared intent.

Oil Sector Dynamics
Fortune Oil’s investments in the oil sector are primarily in 
infrastructure facilities for import and supply. The Company’s 
revenue is derived from the tariff charged per tonne of 
delivered hydrocarbon (crude oil at the Maoming SPM, 
diesel and gasoline at West Zhuhai Terminal, jet fuel at 
Bluesky). The income is therefore dependent on this tariff 
and the volume delivered, rather than the price of the 
hydrocarbon. The Company does not take title to the oil or 
refined products in these infrastructure operations, except 
at Bluesky, which consequently has some inventory 
exposure to pricing risk.

The major international oil companies have not yet made 
significant investments in the onshore oil or gas distribution 
markets, except for the recent development of joint ventures 
in retail stations. Fortune Oil remains the only international 
company with a majority position in a crude oil import 
terminal (Maoming SPM) and one of the few non-state 
companies with investments in a diesel/gasoline distribution 
terminal (at West Zhuhai). As the market liberalises we 
expect more imports to meet the needs of independent 
retailers, particularly through the West Zhuhai Terminal.

business review
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Gas Sector Dynamics
The natural gas sector in China is still at an early stage  
of development. The nation started constructing cross-
provincial trunk pipelines in 2000 from the western gas 
fields to the eastern cities, principally the Shaanxi-Beijing 
(“Shaanjing”) pipelines and the West-East Pipeline. 
Construction of a regional pipeline network is still in 
progress and reticulation systems in most towns, if they 
exist at all, extend only to new developments. Given the 
considerable opportunities in this sector a number of private 
sector companies have acquired controlling interests in gas 
distribution companies. Fortune Oil is in the top league of 
companies in this sector.

Our portfolio includes control of spur pipelines, the 
production and distribution of compressed natural gas 
(CNG) and reticulation systems in cities for distribution to 
houses, businesses and factories. In each case we take  
title to the natural gas; spur pipelines generate tariff revenue 
while CNG is sold at a negotiated price.

Fortune Oil’s city gas companies own and operate the  
city networks and generally have exclusive rights for gas 
supply. Most new gas connections are to new apartment 
complexes, and the developers pay a locally-set connection 
fee which normally exceeds the cost of connection. In some 
large cities in China this connection fee is being phased  
out but there is no indication of this yet occurring at any  
of Fortune Oil’s investments, which tend to be at an early 
development stage.

Volume sales of gas are limited by the number of 
connections and user demand rather than by competition. 
The principal risk is availability of adequate gas supply.  
The company has mitigated this risk in our principal PRC 
gas company (Fu Hua) by joint venturing with a PetroChina 
affiliate which is involved in operating the Shaanxi-Beijing 
pipelines. The Company has also begun investing in CBM 
developments which should provide an independent source 
of natural gas, hence creating integration synergies.

OIL SECTOR OPERATIONS

South China Bluesky Aviation Oil Company
The Company holds a 24.5 per cent shareholding in the 
Bluesky joint venture, which provides aviation refuelling 
services at 15 airports in central and southern China. The 
other partners are China National Aviation Fuel Company 
(CNAF, 51 per cent) and BP (24.5 per cent). CNAF changed 
its name in 2006 from China Aviation Oil Supply Corporation 
after PetroChina and Sinopec acquired stakes in the 
company, and this should assist the logistics of jet fuel 
supply. The Bluesky joint venture was formed in 1997 with 
an initial concession period of 25 years and it remains the 
most significant supplier of jet fuel in China with foreign 
participation.

At its 15 airports Bluesky owns and operates the entire 
refuelling infrastructure, including rail-car terminals, tanks, 
pipelines and refuelling vehicles. Bluesky is the sole  
supplier of jet fuel, which it sources either from imports  
(for international airlines) or from local refineries such as 
Sinopec Maoming (for domestic airlines). The airports 
include the new Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport, the 
third largest in China, plus airports at high-growth industrial 
centres such as Zhengzhou, Wuhan and Changsha.

Most of the jet fuel sales are to domestic airlines, in 
particular China Southern, for whom the price of jet fuel is 
fixed by NDRC. Sales to international airlines are increasing, 
now accounting for 12 per cent of volume. Bluesky receives 
a tariff per tonne of jet fuel supplied. This tariff is set by the 
government for sales to domestic airlines and in 2006 was 
adjusted according to the airport size: Guangzhou’s tariff 
went down and the others went up but the effect was a 
smaller net tariff. The tariff for international airlines is 
negotiated and tends to be higher but the jet fuel price is 
based on international levels.

As Bluesky takes title to the jet fuel supplied it was at  
risk from the price difference between international and 
domestic jet fuel, and this began to adversely affect 
performance in late 2005. However in mid-2006 the  
NDRC implemented a mechanism to compensate aviation 
refuellers such as Bluesky for this price differential, which 
will continue while any differential remains. This was a key 
step forward for energy pricing in China: the consumer 
should bear the risk of changes in international jet fuel 
prices, not the distributor.
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We expect the refuelling industry to be slowly liberalised  
as the aviation sector booms in China and more airports  
are constructed. We see no threat to Bluesky’s current 
position, particularly given its high performance standards 
and the emphasis in China on ensuring reliable and safe 
supply. However such a market opening will provide unique 
opportunities to Fortune Oil as one of the few foreign or 
private sector companies involved in jet fuel supply in China.

Maoming Single Point Mooring
The Company holds a controlling 56 per cent interest in 
Maoming King Ming Petroleum Company Limited (MKM) 
which owns a Single Point Mooring (SPM) facility supplying 
crude oil to an oil refinery at Maoming in Guangdong 
Province. The other major shareholder is Sinopec Maoming 
Petrochemical Corporation. The facility comprises an  
SPM anchored in the South China Sea and a 15 kilometre 
sub-sea pipeline to onshore tanks. Since 1994 the facility 
has supplied the Maoming refinery with 90 per cent of its 
crude oil needs, accounting for up to 10 per cent of China’s 
annual imports.

The Maoming SPM remains the only offshore facility in 
China for importing crude oil and can now handle Ultra 
Large Crude Carriers up to 300,000 dwt, the largest in 
China. The practical capacity of the SPM is limited by the 
discharge rate, the sea conditions and the size of tanker. 
The tanker scheduling is determined by Sinopec, and they 
retain title to the crude oil. MKM receives a tariff for each 
tonne of delivered crude oil and the operations (including 
environmental protection) are sub-contracted to Sinopec. 
The MKM venture has operated safely for over 12 years 
without any oil leakage or pollution.

business review

In 2006 Bluesky’s sales of jet fuel continued to increase in 
2006, rising 12 per cent to 1.45 million tonnes, compared 
with 1.3 million tonnes in 2005. Higher volume sales prices 
and jet fuel prices resulted in Bluesky’s turnover in 2006 
increasing 35 per cent to £513 million from £379 million in 
2005. However the joint venture’s net profit in 2006 was 
steady at £9.4 million (US$17.3 million), compared with  
£9.6 million (US$17.4 million) in 2005. This was because the 
compensation mechanism was introduced too late to offset 
the high cost of imported jet fuel in the first quarter of 2006. 
The compensation mechanism enabled Bluesky’s profit to 
recover in the second half of 2006. There was also a write-
back relating to the change in PRC company law for the 
staff welfare fund but this was offset by provisions for 
obsolete storage tanks.

The largest jet fuel sales are at Guangzhou Airport which 
handled 26 million passengers and 0.65 million tonnes of 
cargo in 2006, already exceeding the target set originally  
for 2010. There are currently 40 airlines operating out of 
Guangzhou with over 150 routes. New investments will 
include a third runway by 2010 and capacity expansion  
to 40 million passengers and 2 million tonnes per year  
of cargo. In addition Federal Express is constructing its  
new US$150 million Asia-Pacific hub at Guangzhou which 
will open in late 2008 with 28 cargo stands. This will  
have a significant impact on both the local economy and 
future Bluesky sales. Bluesky continues to invest in new 
infrastructure at Guangzhou and other airports to meet this 
growing demand but this should not require additional 
shareholder funding.
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In 2006 the SPM throughput increased 11 per cent  
from 9.7 million tonnes to 10.8 million tonnes, with 47 
tankers discharging crude oil (2005: 41 tankers). Recent 
modifications, including a new SPM buoy in 2005, have 
increased the capacity and efficiency of the facility. The 
increase in 2006 throughput was also due to the Maoming 
refinery reverting to full utilisation after a temporary 
downturn in 2005.

MKM’s profit after tax and exceptionals increased by 60 per 
cent in 2006 to £6.7 million (US$12.4 million), compared 
with £4.2 million (US$7.6 million) in 2005. The increase in 
throughput more than compensated for the small decrease 
in the tariff agreed with Sinopec in early 2006. However 
most of the profit increase came from exceptional items,  
in particular a £1.9 million write-back following a change in 
law concerning accruals in the statutory staff welfare fund. 
We do not anticipate such exceptional items in the future.

MKM remains a reliable source of income to the Group. 
Sinopec has repeated its intentions to expand the Maoming 
refinery given the ever increasing demand for refined 
products in southern China. The Company is confident that 
this expansion which will require an enlarged SPM system, 
will take place before expiry of the current contract in 2013.

South China Petroleum Company (West Zhuhai 
Terminal)
The Company has a 37 per cent interest in a refined 
products terminal at Gaolan Island, West Zhuhai at the 
western entrance of the Pearl River Delta. The facility 
includes 240,000 cubic metres of storage capacity for 
gasoline and diesel and the jetty can handle larger products 
tankers (up to 80,000 dwt) than any other terminal in the 
region. The other major shareholder is PetroChina (45 per 
cent), which was also the sole customer in 2006 because of 
the restrictions on import licenses for transportation fuels.

In 2006 the international price for diesel continued to  
be substantially higher than the domestically-set price, 
rendering imports uneconomic and resulting in supply 
disruptions. In addition summer typhoons caused a  
barge to sink in the port channel, thereby disrupting the 
terminal’s operations for a month, and we expect to receive 
compensation for this in 2007. As a result total throughput 
decreased in 2006 to 1.9 million tonnes, including trans-
shipment (2005: 2.2 million tonnes). Net profit for the joint 
venture in 2006 was similar at £2.0 million (US$ 3.7 million), 
compared with £1.9 million (US$3.5 million) in 2005.

The west side of the Pearl River Delta is the expansion area 
for the world’s largest manufacturing centre and a bridge is 
planned to link this area to Hong Kong. This growth should 
provide additional terminalling opportunities. For example 
the terminal facilities are now being used for handling 
certain petrochemicals and the joint venture is considering 
investment in dedicated chemicals storage tanks.

We anticipate substantial long term growth for the facility  
as an independent terminal with one of the largest jetties  
in southern China. For this reason in 2006 the Company 
acquired Vitol’s 18.5 per cent interest in the terminal to 
increase our shareholding to 37 per cent as of July 2006. 
Our confidence in future opportunities was confirmed in 
December 2006 when, after a long wait, the West Zhuhai 
Terminal was granted a licence to store bonded-status 
products. This new licence will enable Fortune Oil and  
third parties to use the terminal for supplying regional 
destinations such as Macau and Hong Kong.

Zhanjiang Fu Duo Gas Company
Since 1994 the Company has had a 57.5 per cent interest 
in the Fu Duo LPG business, comprising an LPG import 
terminal at Zhanjiang in Guangdong Province, and regional 
wholesale and retail businesses. The LPG business is  
now difficult in south Guangdong because of over-supply 
and Fu Duo continues to operate at a small loss. In 2006 
most operations were contracted out for an annual fee  
and certain subsidiaries were sold. The turnover of Fu Duo 
therefore decreased to £0.1 million in 2006 from  
£11.3 million in 2005, which was the major reason why 
Group revenue (net of share of jointly controlled entities) 
decreased in 2006.

In 2006 the Company agreed to acquire the 22.5 per cent 
interest in the Fu Duo business held by Vitol, as part of the 
agreement to acquire Vitol’s interests in the West Zhuhai 
Terminal. The Fu Duo business is no longer material for the 
Group’s operations but there remains considerable value in 
the terminal and the land.

business review
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Trading
Our trading business includes the supply and trading of 
liquid hydrocarbons, our interest in two gasoline retail 
stations in Beijing and rental income from terminal assets  
in Shantou. For some years the trading of hydrocarbons  
had been limited to gasoil and gasoline on a back-to- 
back basis, including to our own retail stations, given  
the tight restrictions on non-state companies in trading 
transportation fuels. This was a low risk but also low  
margin business. However in late 2006 the trading business 
began to flourish, particularly driven by domestic demand 
pressures even though the wholesale markets have not 
opened as expected under WTO.

In 2006 we commenced the importing of non-regulated 
products, in particular the import of bitumen from the  
Middle East and base oil from Russia, and we commenced 
the export of petrochemical products. All these activities  
are on a back to back or agency basis, so low risk but with 
higher margin. Total turnover in 2006 was £23.3 million 
(US$43.0 million) compared to £20.5 million (US$37.3 
million) and the business made an earnings contribution of 
£0.3 million compared to break-even in 2005.

We anticipate further growth in our trading business using 
low risk but higher margin arrangements, and we are in  
the process of arranging short term financing facilities  
with international banks. Fortune Oil’s trading business  
is long-established and the brand name retains a high 
reputation for service and quality in China.

NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION

The Company’s investments in natural gas are through 
Fortune Gas Development (“Fortune Gas”, a 100 per cent 
owned Hong Kong subsidiary), and Beijing Fortune Huiyuan 
Gas Company Limited (“Fu Hua”, a PRC company which is 
owned 80 per cent by Fortune Gas). Fu Hua’s joint venture 
partner is a PetroChina affiliate involved in the operation  
of the Shaanjing trunk pipelines, which are the source  
of most gas for Fu Hua’s business. In Shanxi Province  
these investments include control of the Shuozhou city  
gas reticulation system and the Pinglu and Jinshatan spur 
pipelines. Near Beijing we produce compressed natural  
gas (CNG) at our new Tongzhou wholesale station, one  
of the largest in the region. We own a fleet of trucks with  
34 trailers for distributing this CNG, for example to our city 
gas company at Huairou. We also operate spur pipelines 
near Tianjin and Luquan (Hebei) and control the city gas 
companies at Qufu (Shandong).

business review
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As at the end of the year we operated 511 km of spur 
pipelines and city reticulation systems. These connected 
81,479 household customers and 267 contracted 
commercial and factory users. The total number of 
contracted connections added in 2006 was 10,100, 
principally in the cities of Shuozhou and Huairou, 
representing a 14 per cent growth in number of customers.

Total gas sales exceeded our expectations in 2006. The 
gross sales of gas were 122 million cubic metres (m3), an 
increase of 260% per cent compared to 2005 (34 million 
m3). Every gas business achieved a significant increase in 
volume sales and profit. Gas sales included 43 million m3 of 
CNG in Beijing, 14 million m3 in Shuozhou and 10 million m3 
in Huairou. Large increases in volume sales occurred 
through the Luquan and Tianjin Tianhui pipelines, reaching 
21 million m3 and 19 million m3 respectively from almost 
zero in the previous year.

Total revenue from gas operations in 2006 was £13.2 million 
(US$24.3 million), compared with £5.7 million (US$10.4 
million) in 2005. Connection fee income accounted for only 
15 per cent of the total revenue. The business generated a 
profit from operations of £1.2 million in 2006 after breaking 
even in 2005, because of the substantial rise in gas sales.

Security of supply is the principal risk for natural gas 
distribution in China. Most gas demand is still for heating 
and cooking, which peaks in winter, at the same time  
as overall demand is increasing over 20 per cent per  
year. There have been no gas supply problems in the  
Company’s operations over the past two years. Given  
that our operations are focused around Beijing, and the 
government’s desire to showcase Beijing as a clean city for 
the 2008 Olympics, we are not concerned about gas supply 
risk in the coming two years. Our principal supplier of gas  
is our partner PetroChina affiliate in Fu Hua, hence we have 
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lower gas supply risks than most other gas distributors. 
However we recognise that, in the medium-long term, gas 
supply will be an important issue, hence our move into coal 
bed methane development.

Over time we expect the natural gas industry to become 
more regulated, principally in relation to safety and  
pricing to domestic customers. Fortune Oil is targeting 
investments in early-stage gas companies with favourable 
margins and negotiated pricing. In these businesses we 
expect connection fees to continue, particularly as local 
communities are anxious for city gas companies to extend 
the networks. In any event connection fees represent a 
smaller percentage of our revenue than for many other gas 
companies and our gas revenue model is not so sensitive to 
regulatory risk.

While modest in size at present our gas business is now 
firmly established with significant capacity for future sales 
growth. The supply infrastructure will continue to limit the 
availability of natural gas but Fortune Oil has now developed 
experience in delivering gas to end-users by all practicable 
means, whether as pipeline gas, CNG or LNG.

Fortune Gas Investments
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COAL BED METHANE

China CBM
A significant percentage of China’s methane gas reserves 
are to be found in coal seams as coal bed methane (CBM) 
rather than conventional petroleum gas. This gas can cause 
explosions in coal mines or escape to the atmosphere  
with potential global warming impact as methane is a 
greenhouse gas. Foreign companies are allowed to explore 
for CBM under a Production Sharing Contract (PSC) with  
a government entity, China United Coalbed Methane 
Corporation (CUCBM). Under these PSCs there is no 
restriction on well-head price or destination of the gas so 
that CBM should become a source of natural gas that is 
independent of the state oil companies.

China has the world’s third largest reserves of coal with a 
huge CBM resource estimated by CUCBM at over 30,000 
bcm. The CBM industry in China is at a very early stage  
but, we believe, is on the cusp of enormous growth. There 
was little CBM production before 2006, most being as  
the result of “degassing” by coal mines, and until recently 
foreign investors were discouraged by the low gas price  
and lack of gas infrastructure. Shanxi Province is the most 
important coal-producing region in China and the centre of 
CBM development. Fortune Oil is already a distributor of 
gas in Shanxi Province and intends to be a major player in 
capturing and distributing CBM in the province.

Liulin Block
In April 2006 the Company took a strategic step into the 
development of CBM through acquiring control of the 
foreign contractor rights in the PSC for the Liulin block, 
Shanxi Province. The Liulin CBM block had previously been 
explored by Molopo Australia Limited under a PSC with 
CUCBM. The foreign contractor rights under the PSC were 
transferred to Fortune Liulin Gas Company Limited (FLG), a 
joint venture which is owned 60 per cent by Fortune Oil and 
40 per cent by Molopo.

The PSC transfer to FLG and extension of the exploration 
period to April 2008 were approved by the government  
in July 2006. Under the joint venture agreement, Fortune  
Oil agreed to directly fund US$2.5 million of further field 
appraisal in return for the 60 per cent holding. These funds 
have been committed to two vertical pilot wells, geological 
analysis and payment of fees owing to CUCBM. Under the 
PSC most of this exploration expenditure can be recovered 
in the development phase, which will help FLG cashflow.  
It was subsequently agreed with CUCBM that FLG will be 

able to recover an additional US$2 million relating to costs 
incurred by Molopo in earlier exploration work. Under the 
PSC CUCBM has the right to invest in up to a 50 per cent 
interest in the block in the development phase.

FLG has assembled a team of Chinese upstream 
professionals, assisted by international consultants  
and by Molopo, which has significant experience in  
CBM development and horizontal drilling in Australia.  
In November 2006 drilling commenced of two pilot 
production vertical wells, FL-EP1 and FL- EP2, which were 
completed to a total depth of 615 metres and 1,166 metres 
respectively. The two wells were hydraulically fracture 
stimulated to target coal seam number 8/9 and are currently 
in the dewatering phase. While there are clear signs of gas 
in the recovered water streams, it may be several months 
before gas production commences.

The Liulin block is one of the best geologically assessed 
CBM blocks in China: since the early 1990s there have been 
71 coal core holes and 6 CBM exploration wells drilled in 
this 200 square kilometre block. It is regarded by CUCBM 
as one of China’s top-ranked areas for CBM development. 
The gas in place has been estimated at 40.5 bcm (1.4 
trillion cubic feet) spread across 10 coal seams, in a study 
commissioned by FLG from Shanxi Coal Bureau. FLG will 
focus on developing the largest seams 4, 5 and 8/9 which 
have a good thickness (for example 11.4 metres combined 
at FL-EP1 and 9 metres at FL-EP2). Gas content analysis to 
date has been favourable (typically 9 to 14 cubic metres per 
tonne). The methane content is high enough (average 91 
per cent) for pipeline or CNG delivery.

It is evident that there is a significant CBM resource in the 
Liulin block. However actual gas recovery will be subject to 
in-situ coal permeability, ground conditions and local mining 
as well as the need to dewater and develop each main 
seam in turn. In order to extend the PSC rights and move 
into the development phase FLG plans to certify reserves  
for a section of the block, which requires both geological 
and production data. The next step will be to drill three 
CBM data wells and FLG will also consider horizontal well 
production testing.

We plan commercial development to commence in late 
2008, depending on the results from the current appraisal 
programme. There is a substantial demand for natural gas in 
Shanxi Province which the Company plans to meet from this 
and other CBM developments, initially using CNG trucked 
from the field.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Our Community
The Company’s operations are solely in the People’s 
Republic of China. We ensure that the Company’s 
operations are in compliance with national and local  
laws and practices. Our ongoing success relies on the 
maintenance of excellent relationships in our communities, 
particularly with our local joint venture partners and 
regulatory authorities.

Fortune Oil has a proven track record of safe and reliable 
operation. We remain one of the few international 
companies with both oil and gas operations onshore  
China and we have been at the forefront of introducing  
new approaches such as the SPM concept. Many of  
our businesses are among the largest foreign-invested 
enterprises in that area and they provide a benchmark  
for other local companies. Our oil and gas supply 
businesses provide energy for the development of the local 
communities and we are proud to have played a role in 
introducing cleaner fuels and new standards in China.

All senior management of the Company are required to 
familiarise themselves with the Company’s code of ethics in 
relation to areas such as supervisory rules, insider dealing, 
market malpractices, conflicts of interest, proper use of the 
Company’s assets and reporting requirements for listed 
companies.

Our Employees
The Group’s oil and gas operations employed 1425 staff as 
at the end of 2006 of whom 44 per cent are in subsidiary 
companies and 99 per cent of whom are PRC citizens.  
The Company operates a policy of no discrimination in  
its selection of staff, whether on grounds of age, race, 
religion or gender, with selection only subject to satisfying 
the operational requirements in China. Of the Group’s 
employees 22 per cent are female including the Chief 
Executive Officer.

The Group companies comply with all regulations 
concerning employees such as the funding of local trades 
unions and community activities. Our operating companies 
follow the PRC regulations on mandatory employment of 
disabled people. It is our intention to provide attractive long 
term career prospects for our employees, and our staff 
turnover rate, at 3.6 per cent per year, is one quarter of the 
average for foreign companies in China.

Health and Safety
As a shareholder and operator we are very concerned  
about the safety of our staff and our community. We have  
a policy to maintain safe and healthy working conditions,  
to maintain safe plant and equipment and to provide 
appropriate training and operating procedures. We seek to  
introduce international practices for safety management and 
encourage reporting of all accidents so that the causes can 
be dealt with where possible and so that other employees 
may learn from the experience. The PRC government itself 
continues to upgrade the construction and performance 
standards expected in the energy industry, particularly as 
some industries such as LNG distribution are new to China.

In 2006 a Group HSE Manager was appointed to co-
ordinate and set HSE policy for all our operations, 
particularly in the gas sector. The quality and number of 
safety training sessions was also increased across all 
operations. The number of Lost Time Injuries (LTIs) in the 
Group decreased in 2006 but we remain concerned about 
the increasing number of road accidents to date in 2007. 
There have been no fatalities at any of the Group’s operating 
facilities since its formation in 1993.

Group Safety Performance 

 200�  2005

Number of Fatal Accidents –  –
Number of Lost Time Injuries 
 (LTI/million hours) 1  6
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 0.2  2.0
Number of Training Sessions  
 and Drills �32  503 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

Environmental Policy
Fortune Oil has a policy of minimising the impact on  
the environment. We seek to work with our partners  
and stakeholders in China in improving environmental 
performance and to foster close relationships with the local 
community. Further details of the Group’s HSE policies are 
on our website.

There is a growing awareness of environmental issues  
in China and a demand for safer, less polluting fuels.  
Natural gas is the most environmentally friendly, safe and  
efficient hydrocarbon fuel and we have been one of the  
first international companies to supply natural gas to users 
in China. There is limited experience of environmental 
management systems in China but we are pleased to 
announce that in 2006 Bluesky achieved certification from 
DNV for ISO9000, ISO14000 and OSAHAS18000 for its 
airport operations.

business review
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Our core business is the supply of fuel, and the emissions 
numbers below exclude those by customers through the 
utilisation of these fuels. However our natural gas business 
provides a net reduction in emissions of pollutants such as 
greenhouse gases. Firstly it displaces the use of more 
polluting coal or less efficient LPG; and secondly our coal 
bed methane business is intended to recover and utilise 
methane gas that would otherwise be detrimental to the 
environment.

2006 Equity Share of Emissions

Categorised in accordance with the UK government 
(DEFRA) guidelines:

Methane to Air (tonnes) 4.2
Greenhouse Gases (tonnes CO2 equivalent) 2,150
Acid Rain Precursors (such as NOx, SOx) Negligible
Volatile Organic Compounds to Air (tonnes) 52
Smog Precursors (such as particulates) Negligible
Chemical Waste Negligible
Metals Emissions Negligible

Our carbon footprint will increase as we begin to extract 
CBM and enlarge our operations. However, the net impact 
on the environment will be positive, as we attempt to 
recover and supply clean fuels for China and reduce net 
emissions of greenhouse gases.

Other Environmental Impacts
The Group’s operations do not currently involve any 
significant consumption or handling of hazardous chemicals 
and there is no material effluent or waste generated. The 
Group’s operations do not use or discharge water in any 
industrial processes and the total consumption of water is 
small at 37,600 m3 in 2006.

China already has a substantial body of legislation covering 
environmental issues. For example environmental impact 
assessment studies are required for many of the Bluesky 
expansion projects and for CBM drilling. Fortune Oil ensures 
that all of our businesses are in compliance with such 
national and local directives. We aim to minimise accidental 
releases of hydrocarbons and to introduce more rigorous 
systems for environmental management and reporting. 
Almost all of the Group’s hydrocarbon fuels in China are 
currently sourced via state-controlled companies, principally 
PetroChina and Sinopec. The Company maintains excellent 
relationships with these suppliers who are reliable providers 
of energy in China and internationally-listed companies.

Oil and Gas Emissions
Our primary environmental focus is to prevent the release  
of hydrocarbons, whether they occur through leaks in 
pipelines, spills or leaks during transfers, the venting of 
tanks or tank overflows.

Fortune Oil is the only non-domestic company with a  
major interest in a crude oil import facility in China (the 
Maoming SPM). We recognise that a spill of crude oil from 
the SPM buoy or subsea pipeline could have a significant 
environmental impact. To this end we endeavour to ensure 
that facilities at this MKM joint venture are maintained to  
the highest standards and that an environmental protection 
vessel, a tug and a fire fighting vessel are stationed at the 
SPM whenever a tanker is discharging oil. There has been 
no spill of crude oil from MKM’s facilities since its start-up  
in 1994.

The Bluesky and West Zhuhai joint ventures, where we  
have a minority interest, handle lighter refined products (jet 
fuel, diesel and gasoline). Most of the Group’s emissions of 
volatile organic compounds (VOCs) come from small spills 
or natural venting from tanks at these facilities. China has 
introduced design requirements for new floating roof tanks 
to reduce vapour emissions; these standards are more 
stringent than those in almost every OECD country and are 
being implemented for new tanks installed in the Bluesky 
operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
There is a growing realisation in China concerning the 
impact of the country’s emissions on climate change.  
One of the major concerns is methane (CH4), the main 
constituent of natural gas. Not only is methane a safety 
hazard in coal mines, but it is also 21 times more effective 
than CO2 in trapping heat in the atmosphere. The average 
lifetime of methane in the atmosphere is significantly less 
than that of CO2, so a reduction in methane emissions will 
have a more immediate effect in reducing global warming.

Emissions of methane from our natural gas operations  
are very small, primarily being the venting of methane  
gas for example when maintaining equipment. There are  
no processing plants in the Group’s operations and there 
was no oil or gas extraction in 2006, hence the Group’s 
environmental impact is low compared to the industry 
average. Most of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are 
indirect and relate to the use of power and the use of fuels 
for staff travel or truck delivery.

business review
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Expenditure
Revenues including the Group’s share of jointly controlled 
entities increased by 23 per cent to £175.8 million 
(US$324.5 million) in 2006 from £143.1 million (US$260.2 
million) in 2005. Group revenue excluding jointly controlled 
entities decreased marginally in 2006 to £43.3 million from 
£45.0 million in 2005 despite higher sales of natural gas. 
This was because Fu Duo’s operations were contracted out, 
resulting in a £11.2 million reduction in sales at Fu Duo.

The profit attributable to equity shareholders was £4.3 
million (US$7.9 million), an increase of 54 per cent over 
2005 (£2.8 million, US$5.1 million). The major differences 
were higher earnings from the natural gas business and 
exceptional items for Maoming SPM. Earnings per share 
were 0.24 pence compared with 0.16 pence in 2005.

Capital expenditure and acquisitions totalled £8.1 million 
(US$15.0 million) (2005: £10.9 million). This comprised 
principally £4.7 million in purchase of fixed assets and £3.2 
million in acquisition of an 18.5% shareholding in Southern 
China Petroleum (in respect of the West Zhuhai Terminal) 
and a capital contribution to Tianjin Tianhui Natural Gas 
Limited. Debt secured on the Beijing hotel of £1.1 million  
at the end of 2005 was fully repaid in 2006 and the hotel 
security is in the process of being released. The Group had 
a net borrowing position of £0.8 million (US$1.5 million) as 
at 31 December 2006, compared to a net cash position of 
£2.6 million (US$4.5 million) in the previous year. The 
change was mainly due to acquisitions in 2006.

Net assets of the Group decreased marginally in 2006 to 
£50.0 million (US$ 98.1 million) from £50.7 million (US$87 
million) in 2005 as a result of the increase in retained 
earnings being offset by foreign currency translation 
differences on consolidation.

Financial Costs and Tax
Finance expenses for the Group were £471,000 
(US$869,000) in 2006, similar to the 2005 expense of 
£454,000 (US$826,000). Loans to the Group at end 2006 
totalled £9.0 million (US$17.7 million), similar to outstanding 
loans at end 2005 (£9.1 million, US$15.6 million). At  
end 2006 there was a £3.2 million (US$6.3 million) loan 
outstanding to First Level Holdings Limited, the largest 
shareholder in the Company, compared to £4.2 million 
(US$7.3 million) in the previous year.

The Group’s tax charge in 2006 was £617,000 (2005: 
£544,000) representing an effective tax rate of 7 per cent 
(2005: 10 per cent). The decrease in effective tax rate 
resulted from the impact of exceptional gains and a higher 
contribution from natural gas.

The PRC government intends to unify the corporate tax rate 
at 25 per cent for domestic and foreign companies from 
January 2008. The current tax rate for most companies in 
China is 33 per cent but foreign enterprises have generally 
been eligible for a 15 per cent tax rate. The overall impact 
should be neutral for Fortune Oil in the medium term as 
most of the existing tax privileges will be grand-fathered for 
5 years. Companies engaged in certain industries will enjoy 
preferential rates and tax concessions have already been 
announced for coal bed methane development and energy 
conservation measures.

Foreign exchange
The revenues and expenses of the Group are primarily 
denominated in China’s renminbi (RMB). Some expenses 
are denominated in pound sterling (£) and in Hong Kong 
dollar (HK$), which is pegged to the US dollar (US$). Since 
the RMB/US$ peg was loosened in mid-2005 the RMB has 
appreciated 6 per cent against the US$. However in 2006 
sterling appreciated 14 per cent against the US dollar and 
there was a net 10 per cent appreciation against the RMB.

This currency movement has had the effect of understating 
our performance improvements as measured in pound 
sterling. The Company has not hedged currency risk and 
any further revaluation of the RMB or change in US$/£ 
exchange rate in 2007 is likely to affect the Group’s results 
as denominated in pound sterling.

The Group requires both RMB for operating expenses  
in China and foreign exchange for equity investments  
in new joint ventures. A major element of the Group’s  
foreign exchange needs currently comes from the dividend 
payments by the Maoming SPM and Bluesky joint ventures. 
Historically the Maoming SPM and Bluesky joint ventures 
have usually paid out the full net profit as dividend after 
contributions to statutory employee welfare funds.

Capital Structure
Most of the Group’s investments and expenses take place 
in the PRC and are held through Fortune Oil PRC Holdings 
Limited, a 100 per cent-owned subsidiary of the Company 
in Hong Kong. To facilitate inter-company restructuring most 
of the investments in China are held through subsidiary 
Hong Kong registered companies. The Company’s UK 
operations consist only of local representation as a direct 
expense to the Company.

Dividend Policy
In prior years a deficit in retained earnings had restricted 
Fortune Oil from declaring dividends. In 2006 a capital 
reduction exercise eliminated this restriction and the Group 
now has distributable reserves. However the Group’s policy 
remains that we should currently reinvest profits rather than 
declare dividends.

business review
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business review

GLOSSARY

bcm
Billion cubic metres (1,000,000,000 m3), when converted to 
normal conditions of 0.1 MPa (MegaPascal) pressure and 
20 degrees Celsius temperature.

CBM
Coal Bed Methane, refers to methane deposits in coal 
seams. CBM is generated during coal formation and 
adsorbed in the natural fracture surfaces in coal. CBM  
can be extracted by drilling prior to coal mining and can 
normally be utilised as natural gas (commonly referred to as 
an unconventional source of gas).

CMM
Coal Mine Methane which is extracted during coal mining 
operations. It has a lower methane content than CBM 
because of air ingress during mining.

CO2 equivalent
The quantity of greenhouse gases emitted in million tonnes, 
when expressed as though it was carbon dioxide (CO2), so 
as to indicate the potential impact on global warming.

CNG
Compressed Natural Gas, gas which has been compressed 
to between 4 MPa and 25 MPa of pressure so as to reduce 
the volume for transportation in tanks.

CUCBM
China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd, the PRC 
government entity responsible for entering into PSCs with 
foreign companies for development of CBM fields.

DEFRA
UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.

dwt
Dead-weight tonnage, the carrying capacity of a ship.

Gas
“Natural gas” for domestic supply normally contains over 90 
per cent methane (CH4). Conventional gas is sourced from 
petroleum gas fields but the same quality gas could also be 
sourced as coal bed methane.

HIBOR
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, a market rate used to 
calculate interest on Hong Kong dollar loans.

HSE
Health, Safety and Environment.

Hydrocarbons
Organic compounds sourced from crude oil or gas.

KPI
Key Performance Indicator, a measure of the Company’s 
performance.

LNG
Liquefied Natural Gas, gas which has been turned into  
a liquid by cooling to approximately 150 degrees Celsius 
below zero. This greatly reduces the volume for 
transportation in tanks.

LPG
Liquefied Petroleum Gas, a mixture of propane and butane 
(whereas natural gas is mostly methane). Supplied to 
customers in bottles or via a pipeline network, sometimes 
mixed with air.

LIBOR
London Interbank Offered Rate, a market rate used to 
calculate interest on US dollar loans

LTIFR
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate. An LTI is any work-related 
injury or illness which prevents a person working the 
following day. Calculated as LTIs per million working hours.

LTIP
Long Term Incentive Plan.

NDRC
National Development and Reform Commission, the 
principal government body in China for economic and 
energy policy.

OECD
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PRC
The People’s Republic of China.

PSC
Production Sharing Contract, an agreement between the 
government and a foreign company for exploration and 
development of a natural resource block.

RMB
Renminbi, the principal currency of the PRC.

SPM
Single Point Mooring buoy, which allows an oil tanker to 
moor at its bow and through which oil is discharged to a 
sub-sea pipeline. The MKM subsidiary operates the only 
SPM in China for import of crude oil.
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Executive Directors

Mr Daniel CHIU, aged 46, is Executive Vice-Chairman of Fortune Oil and has been a Director since August 1993.  
Mr CHIU was Fortune Oil’s Chief Executive prior to becoming Vice Chairman in October 1994. He is Chairman of Federal  
Asia Company Limited, a privately held real estate investment and trading company with extensive operations in China.  
He is also a Non-executive Director of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Ms LI Ching, aged 48, became Chief Executive in April 2001. Ms LI was a Non-executive Director of Fortune Oil between 
August 1993 and June 1998. She was appointed Joint Chief Executive (Operation) in March 1999. She was appointed in 
1990 as Executive Director of Kingsleigh Petroleum Limited, nominated by the PRC minority shareholders in the Kingsleigh 
Group. Previously she was Deputy Director of China North Industries Corporation (NORINCO) which she joined after 
graduating from The Economic and Financial Institute of Beijing.

Mr John PEXTON, aged 46, joined Fortune Oil as Deputy Chief Executive in February 2004. Mr PEXTON worked for  
ten years as a chartered Chemical Engineer in the downstream oil industry followed by ten years with Morgan Grenfell and 
Deutsche Bank. Prior to joining the Company he was a Director and Head of Asia Project Finance for Deutsche Bank in Hong 
Kong and advised PetroChina on developing the West-East Gas Pipeline. He holds an MA degree from Jesus College, 
Cambridge and an MBA from London Business School.
 
Mr GONG Min, aged 49, is Projects Director based in Hong Kong/Beijing. He joined Fortune Oil in 2000 and has worked  
as General Manager of the Projects Department since 2002. He graduated with a Masters Degree in international public law 
at the Institute of Law, China Academy of Social Science in Beijing. Prior to joining Fortune Oil he worked for 10 years in the 
oil trading business with Sinochem, at both its head-office in Beijing and as the General Manager of Sinochem International 
Oil (London) Co. Ltd in the United Kingdom.

Non-executive Directors

Mr QIAN Benyuan*, aged 62, Non-executive Chairman since 1997. Mr QIAN was President and CEO of China National 
Electronics Import and Export Corporation (CEIEC) between May 1995 and April 2005. He formally joined Fortune Oil PLC 
after retiring from CEIEC and continues to serve as Non-executive Chairman based in Beijing. Until recently Mr QIAN was  
also Chairman of China Hewlett-Packard Co., Ltd. He is currently a Director of the International Chamber of Commerce, 
China, a Committee Member of the China Council for Promotion of International Trade (CCPIT) and a Director of Shenzhen 
Development Bank.

Mr Trevor BEDFORD† MBE, aged 72, the Senior Independent Director, and Chairman of the Audit Committee. He was 
appointed Non-executive Director of Fortune Oil on 8 February 1999. Trevor BEDFORD was the Chief Executive of The  
Hong Kong Land Group in 1978, Chairman of Mandarin Oriental Hotels and also a director of the Hong Kong Bank,  
Jardine Matheson Limited, the Hong Kong/Canton Railway Corporation, HK Electric, HK Telephone and many other  
public companies. He is currently Chairman, Director and/or consultant of six companies located in the United Kingdom, 
Switzerland, the United States, Hong Kong and South Africa. 

board of directors 
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Mr WANG Jinjun*, aged 50, Independent Non-executive Director. He was appointed in November 2003 and is Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee. Mr WANG is based in Hong Kong and was Deputy Managing Director of Top Glory International 
Holdings Limited, a leading hotel management and real estate business which was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
until September 2003, when it was privatised. He is also a director of China National Cereals, Oil and Foodstuffs Import & 
Export Corporation and has served as a senior official at China’s Ministry of Foreign Trade.

Mr Dennis CHIU†*, aged 48, Non-executive Director. Mr CHIU has been a Director of Fortune Oil since August 1993.  
He is Managing Director of Far East Consortium International Limited, a regional real estate and leisure company listed in 
Hong Kong. He is also a director of Far East Hotels & Entertainment Limited and Far East Holdings International Limited  
in Hong Kong, and a director of a number of companies in Singapore and Malaysia. Mr CHIU received a BA degree from the 
University of Sussex.

Ms Louisa HO, aged 42, was formerly Finance Director and currently a Non-executive Director since 1 September 2006.  
Ms HO joined Fortune Oil as Financial Controller in 1993 and was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive in August 2001 and 
became Finance Director in April 2004. She has an MSc in Data Processing from the University of Ulster and a B Soc Sc  
from the University of Hong Kong. Before joining Fortune Oil, she worked in a range of positions in controller and operations 
departments at Esso Hong Kong Limited. 

Mr LI Anxi, aged 53, Non-executive Director since June 2005, Mr LI is President and Party Secretary of Maoming 
Petrochemical Corporation (MPCC). Graduated from Hefei University of Technology in 1978, He started his career at  
Qilu Petrochemical Corporation and worked there for 22 years, holding various important management positions. He was 
appointed as Party Secretary of MPCC in July 2004 and became President of MPCC and Legal Representative of Sinopec 
Maoming Branch Company in March 2005.

Mr Ian TAYLOR†* aged 50, Non-executive Director. Mr TAYLOR was an Executive Director of Fortune Oil between  
August 1993 and June 1996. He relinquished his executive role and became a Non-executive Director on 16 June 1996.  
Mr TAYLOR is President of Vitol S.A., a leading international petroleum trading company. He was Managing Director of  
Vitol Asia Pte Limited between 1992 and 1994. He joined Vitol S.A. in 1985 from Shell where he held various positions in 
shipping, operations and trading. Mr TAYLOR received an MA degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from Oxford 
University in 1978.

Mr ZHI Yulin, aged 41, Non-executive Director since November 2000. Mr ZHI graduated from Beijing Institute of Technology 
in 1985, Nanjing Institute of Technology in 1987 and received an EMBA at China Europe International Business School in 
2000. He joined NORINCO in 1987 and has held various positions since then. He is currently the Vice President of NORINCO.

† Member of the Audit Committee
* Member of the Remuneration Committee

board of directors 
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group are oil and gas supply and infrastructure projects in China.

Business review and future developments
The Business Review is presented on pages 7 to 19. 

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
The Business Review on pages 7 to 19 details the business environment and risks for each of the Group’s principal activities. 
All of the Group’s operations are in the onshore China oil and gas industry, a market which is expanding and changing rapidly. 
These operations will therefore be affected by developments in the regulatory regimes and revenues will be subject to supply 
risks. As the principal currency of these operations is the Chinese renminbi, investors will also be at risk from movements in 
the pound sterling/renminbi exchange rate.

Results and Dividends 
The results for the year ended 31 December 2006 are set out in the group income statement on page 44.

The Directors do not propose to pay a dividend (2005: nil). 

Corporate Governance
 A report on Corporate Governance and compliance with the Combined Code is set out on pages 25 to 30.

A statement of Directors’ Responsibilities for the financial statements including the disclosure of information to auditors is 
included on page 41.

Key Performance Indicators
Details of the Key Performance Indicators monitored by the Board are included on page 7.

Employees and Environment
Details of the Group’s policies with regard to employees and the environment are included in on pages 16 to 17.

Remuneration Report 
The Remuneration Report on pages 31 to 40 of this Annual Report will be proposed for approval at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting (“AGM”) on Tuesday, 19 June 2007.

Directors 
The present members of the Board and of the Audit and Remuneration Committees as at the date of this Report are listed 
below. Brief biographical details of the Directors appear on pages 20 and 21.

Executive Directors

1. Daniel Tatjung CHIU (Vice-Chairman)
2. LI Ching (Chief Executive) 
3. John Michael PEXTON (Deputy Chief Executive)
4. GONG Min (Projects Director)

Non-Executive Directors

1. QIAN Benyuan* (Chairman) 5. Ian Roper TAYLOR*†

2. Trevor John BEDFORD† (Senior Independent Director) 6. Louisa Yuk-king HO
3. WANG Jinjun* (Independent Director) 7. LI Anxi
4. Dennis Tatshing CHIU*† 8. ZHI Yulin

* Member of the Remuneration Committee
† Member of the Audit Committee
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The following changes occurred in the composition of the Board during the year: 
Bruce McGOWAN retired 24 April 2006
FENG Xuechang retired 21 June 2006
LI De retired 21 June 2006
YANG Chunshu retired 21 June 2006
Louisa Yuk-king HO became a Non-executive Director on 1 September 2006

The Directors retiring by rotation are LI Ching and ZHI Yulin who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM on 
19 June 2007.

Non-executive Directors who have held office for more than nine years are required to submit themselves for re-election every 
year in accordance with A.7.2 of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance. Having served on the Board since 9 August 
1993, 24 June 1996 and 28 May 1997 respectively as Non-executive Directors, Dennis CHIU, Ian TAYLOR and QIAN Benyuan 
will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Executive Directors standing for re-election have a director’s service contract. The Non-executive Directors have 
a letter of appointment. The remaining Directors unanimously recommend the re-appointment of each Director.

Directors’ Interests in shares and options over shares
Details of Directors’ interests in the Company’s shares and options over shares in the ordinary share capital of the Company 
are set out on pages 37, 39 and 40 in the Remuneration Report. Other than as disclosed therein, no Directors had any 
material interest in any contract of significance concerning the Company or its subsidiaries during or at the end of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2006.

Share Capital
As at the date of this report, 1,836,335,868 ordinary shares are issued and fully paid. Details of the changes in the share 
capital during 2006 are set out in Note 20 to the financial statements.

Substantial Shareholdings 
As at the date of this report, the Company has been notified under section 198 of the Companies Act 1985 of the following 
holders of 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company:

  Number of shares   %

First Level Holdings Limited (1)  647,244,897  35.25
Goldman Sachs Securities (Nominees) Limited ILSEG ACCT  (2)  70,515,867   3.84
Vitol Energy (Bermuda) Limited   158,157,748  8.61
JTC Trustees Limited (3)  59,413,837   3.24

(1) First Level Holdings Limited is a company in which the majority of shares are owned by Daniel CHIU and the remainder by Dennis CHIU.

(2) First Level Holdings Limited has a beneficial interest in 70,000,000 shares.

(3) The trustee for the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust under its Long Term Incentive Plan.

Directors & Officers Liability Insurance
During the year ended 31 December 2006, the Company maintained cover for its Directors and officers and those of its 
subsidiary companies under a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance policy, as permitted by section 310(3) of the 
Companies Act 1985.

Directors Indemnities 
As at the date of this report, indemnities are in force under which the Company has agreed to indemnify the Directors, to  
the extent permitted by the Companies Act 1985, against claims from third parties in respect of certain liabilities arising out 
of, or in connection with, the execution of their powers, duties and responsibilities, as Directors of the Company or any of  
its subsidiaries.
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Political and Charitable Donations
During the year, the Group made no political or charitable contributions.

Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Review 
The Group is committed to high standards of health, safety and environment management. Details are set out on pages 16 
and 17.

Policy for Payment of Creditors
The Company’s policy for all suppliers is to fix terms of payment when agreeing the terms of each business transaction, to 
ensure that the supplier is aware of those terms, and to abide by the agreed terms of payment. As at 31 December 2006, the 
Company had trade creditors outstanding for an average of 58 days (2005: 35 days). 

Financial Risk Management
Details of the Group’s financial risk management policies are included in note 23 to the group financial statements.

Auditors
The auditors, RSM Robson Rhodes LLP, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. 
 
Annual General Meeting 
The AGM will be held at 11am on Tuesday, 19 June 2007 at Oriental Club, Stratford House, Stratford Place, London  
W1C 1ES, United Kingdom. The Notice convening the meeting is being sent to shareholders separately with this report. 
Resolutions will also be proposed for items of special business, namely authorisation for the directors to allot ordinary shares, 
the disapplication of pre-emption rights and the amendments to the Articles of Association. Details of all resolutions together  
with the explanatory notes to be considered at the meeting are set out in the Notice.

Approval 
The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 11 May 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Sandi CHOI
Company Secretary
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Compliance with the Combined Code
The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the principal requirements of the Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance (“the Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2006 as follows:

Directors
At the date of this Annual Report, for the purposes of Code provision A.1.2, the Board comprises twelve directors: four are 
Executive Directors, six are Non-executive Directors who take a formal role in management through attendance at Board 
meetings and Committee matters and two are Non-executive Directors representing PRC joint venture investment partners.

The Executive Directors are Daniel CHIU (Vice-Chairman), LI Ching (Chief Executive), John PEXTON (Deputy Chief Executive) 
and GONG Min (Projects Director).

QIAN Benyuan is the Non-executive Chairman.

There are two independent Non-executive Directors; Trevor BEDFORD is the Senior Independent Director and WANG Jinjun is 
the other Independent Non-executive Director. The Non-executive Directors who take a management role in Board meetings 
and Committees are QIAN Benyuan, Trevor BEDFORD, WANG Jinjun, Dennis CHIU, Louisa HO and Ian TAYLOR. Trevor 
BEDFORD is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and WANG Jinjun is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The 
other two Non-executive Directors, LI Anxi and ZHI Yulin, who represent the shareholders and businesses in the PRC, do not 
take a significant role in governance matters. 

The name and biographies of all the current Directors are on pages 20 to 21 which also detail the composition of the Board 
Committees. 
 
The role of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate, ensuring a clear division of responsibility. The Chairman is responsible 
for the leadership of the Board, while the Chief Executive is responsible for the development and implementation of policy and 
strategy and for the day-to-day operations of the Group.

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved for its decision, which includes overall strategy, business planning, 
acquisitions, disposals, board membership and major capital expenditure, thus ensuring that it maintains full and effective 
control over appropriate strategic, financial, organisational and compliance issues. Directors are provided with appropriate 
information in a timely manner by means of briefing papers distributed in advance of board meetings and on an ad hoc basis 
where necessary. 

The role of the Company Secretary is to ensure that Board procedures are followed and that all applicable rules and 
regulations are complied with. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary (whose 
appointment or removal is a matter for the Board as a whole). All Directors, including Non-executive Directors, are able to 
take independent professional advice if necessary, at the Company’s expense, in the furtherance of their duties as Directors.

The Board as a whole rather than a Nomination Committee consider new Board appointments. In making appointments the 
Board considers the particular skills, knowledge and experience that would most benefit the Board and may use external 
recruitment consultants to provide a shortlist of potential interviewees and recommendations for the Board to consider. The 
Board is responsible for the appointment and removal of its own members.

On appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive induction to the Group’s business including site visits, meetings with 
senior management across the business and Group functions and meetings with major shareholders. As an ongoing process, 
Directors are briefed and provided with additional updates on changes and developments in the business and on legislative 
and regulatory issues, as appropriate. Directors visit operating divisions and local management on a regular basis. 

Non-executive Directors are appointed for specific terms as required by the Code. The terms and conditions of appointment 
of Non-executive Directors are available for inspection and a sample letter of appointment is available on the Company’s 
website. The letters of appointment for Non-executive Directors set out fixed time commitments of 25 days a year. The Board 
is also kept informed of their other significant commitments and the Board is satisfied that these do not conflict with their 
duties as a Director of the Company. All Directors are subject to re-election by the shareholders at the first general meeting 
following their appointment by the Board. Subsequently they must seek re-election at least every three years according to the 
Company’s Articles of Association and in compliance with the Code.
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The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance cover, in respect of legal action against the Directors and 
other officers of the Group, throughout the year.

Board performance evaluation 
The Board completed an internal performance evaluation of its own performance and of its Committees and individual 
Directors for the year 2006. The performance evaluation was primarily based upon answers to questionnaires which had been 
updated since the previous year’s evaluation. A Review Panel comprising a Non-executive Director, the Chairman and Senior 
Independent Director discussed their views and gave feedback on individual questionnaires. The results of the evaluation 
were reported to the Board and where areas for improvement have been identified, actions have been agreed. Relevant 
matters considered in discussion with Directors and Board performance included:

• the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board against current and future needs of the Company 
development in the year ahead;

• the structure of the Board as to the appropriateness of its business nature and cultural mix;

• frequency and formalised communications between Board members and between the Board and its committees;

• size and composition of the Board;

• the effectiveness of the three Board Committees; 

• thorough understanding of the relevant industry sector and market place;

• Directors’ training; and

• Risk management.

The Directors concluded that the Board and its Committees operated effectively and that, as individuals, the Directors were 
each contributing to the overall effectiveness of the Board.

The evaluation of the Chairman encompasses the general management and conduct of Board meetings, the quality of 
discussion and the extent to which Board meetings are focusing on the right issues. The Senior Independent Director and a 
Non-executive Director reviewed and evaluated the performance of the Chairman who was not present. They concluded that 
the Chairman continues to perform effectively and demonstrated commitment to the role of Chairman. 

Board Committees
The Board has established an Executive Committee, a Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee with delegated 
duties and responsibilities. The Company Secretary is the Secretary of all these Committees. The terms of reference of the 
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee are available on the Company’s website, www.fortune-oil.com

The Company’s Non-executive Directors are considered as either “management Non-executives” or “investment partner  
Non-executives”. While the management Non-executives take an active role in the management of the Company, including 
attending Board meetings and forming part of the Board Committees, the two investment partner Non-executives were 
appointed to the Board for their connections with the Group’s business operations in China as they are presidents of other 
corporations. These investment partner Non-executives perform a vital business role and provide valuable entrepreneurial 
leadership within the local environment for the Group’s strategic aims in China. They do not normally attend Board meetings 
of the Company or become members of the Board Committees of the Company.

The full Board did not meet formally during the year due to the difficulties of the Non-executive Directors, investment partners 
attending meetings outside China. Because of this, the Board has delegated principal responsibility for the development  
of the Company to the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee Directors do meet informally with individual  
Non-executive Directors on a regular basis at their individual operational sites to obtain their views on Board and business 
matters. In addition, when Directors are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be discussed and 
given an opportunity to convey their thoughts and make their views known to the Vice-Chairman prior to the meeting. It 
should be noted that the time commitment expected from the investment partner Non-executives does not relate to 
attendance at Board meetings. Their time is spent visiting the Group’s businesses and attending Company events. The 
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Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors also meet outside formal meetings to discuss business issues. The 
investment partner Non-executives are also available for consultation on specific issues falling within their particular fields  
of expertise. 

As required by Code provision A.1.2, the total number of Board and Committee meetings held during the year to  
31 December 2006 and individual attendance by Directors are shown below:

    Executive  Audit  Remuneration
  Board  Committee  Committee  Committee
  (maximum 7)  (maximum 6)  (maximum 2)  (maximum 1)

Executive Directors
Daniel CHIU 7  5  N/A  N/A
LI Ching 5  4  N/A  N/A
John PEXTON 7  6  N/A  N/A
GONG Min 7  5  N/A  N/A

Non-executive Directors:
(i) Management Non-executive Directors:
QIAN Benyuan 6  N/A  N/A  1
Trevor BEDFORD 7  N/A  2  N/A
WANG Jinjun 1  N/A  N/A  1
Dennis CHIU 1  N/A  1  1
Louisa HO1 7  4  N/A  N/A
Ian TAYLOR 5  N/A  2  1
(ii) Investment partner Non-executive Directors:
LI Anxi 0  N/A  N/A  N/A
ZHI Yulin 0  N/A  N/A  N/A
Former Directors
Bruce McGOWAN2 1  1  N/A  N/A
FENG Xuechang3 1  N/A  N/A  N/A
LI De3 1  N/A  N/A  N/A
YANG Chunshu3 1  N/A  N/A  N/A

N/A = not applicable (where a Director is not a member of the Committee, although he or she may attend meetings at the invitation of  
the Chairman of that Committee).

1 Louisa HO became a Non-executive Director on 1 September 2006. She attended the maximum number of meetings of the Executive 
Committee during which she was an Executive Director.

2 Bruce McGOWAN retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.

3 FENG Xuechang, LI De and YANG Chunshu retired from the Board on 21 June 2006.

The Board delegates day-to-day operational development, strategic activities of the Group and business management  
control to the Executive Committee, which comprises the Executive Directors and the senior managers of the Group.  
The Executive Committee is responsible for implementing Group policy, the monitoring and performance of the business  
and reporting to the Board members thereon. 

The Remuneration Committee comprises four Non-executive Directors: WANG Jinjun (Chairman), Dennis CHIU, QIAN 
Benyuan and Ian TAYLOR. It determines on behalf of the Board the remuneration and benefits of the Executive Directors of 
the Company and Senior Executives of the Group. The Board as a whole determines the level of fees of the Non-executive 
Directors and meets as required. The Remuneration Committee adopted terms of reference as required by Code provision 
B.2.1. 
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The Audit Committee comprises three Non-executive Directors: Trevor BEDFORD (Chairman), Dennis CHIU and Ian TAYLOR. 
It meets at least twice a year. Additional meetings are called whenever it is considered appropriate. The Executive Directors 
attend the meetings as considered appropriate by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews, prior to publication, 
the interim reports, preliminary announcements and full annual reports including the statutory financial statements of the 
Group. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the financial results remains with the Board. The Audit 
Committee adopted its terms of reference in April 2005.

In accordance with Code provision C.3.4 the Audit Committee revised the Group’s procedures for members of staff to raise 
concerns in confidence about potential misreporting or other misconduct and a whistle blowing policy is in place to ensure  
a consistent approach across the group.

The external auditors are permitted to undertake some non-audit services under the approval of the Board and Audit 
Committee. The Board does not regard these non-audit services to be significant or to threaten their independence given that 
the external auditor’s knowledge of the Group’s affairs provides significant advantages, which other service providers would 
not have. Certain specific tax compliance matters are, however, considered on a case-by-case basis. The fees for audit and 
non-audit services are provided in note 4 to the financial statements.
 
Internal Controls and Risk Review
The Combined Code requires an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by  
the Company. The risk management process is in place and is regularly reviewed by the Board and accords with the Code 
guidance.

The Board receives and reviews detailed risk analysis reports, which address the significant risk areas with proposals for 
mitigating and managing those risks. These reports are prepared by Directors in conjunction with the management personnel 
in the relevant departments and/or joint ventures.

The Board recognises its responsibility for the Company’s systems of internal control and reviewing its effectiveness. Such 
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failing to achieve business objectives and can provide 
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has a proven system of internal financial controls and reporting procedures, which integrate the financial 
reports of the joint ventures and associate companies. It is the intention of the Board to initiate a review to examine and 
update these controls and procedures on an ongoing basis. The Executive Committee meets regularly to review the budgets, 
financial reports and forward cash flow projections for the Company and its principal joint ventures and associate companies. 
The joint venture companies prepare monthly, six monthly and annual accounts. The Executive Committee is responsible for 
examining the formal system of internal controls and reports and modifying the system where changes in business activities 
and/or the external environment dictate.

The Company has a formal internal audit function. Internal audit reports are distributed to Executive Directors which enable 
them to access the effectiveness of the system of internal control. In addition, management actively participates in and 
conducts internal audits of joint ventures and associated companies on a periodic basis. Bluesky maintains an internal audit 
function which reports to its Board.

The Executive Committee is responsible for establishing guidelines and procedures for the evaluation and development of 
new investment proposals open to the Company. The Executive Committee formally reviews the financial projections and the 
risks inherent in new proposals before submitting significant capital expenditure projects to the Board for its approval.

The majority of the Company’s activities are conducted through subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies which 
have their own boards of directors, management structures and accounting/reporting procedures. In all the joint ventures, the 
Company has directors on the boards either in a majority position or with minority protection voting powers for matters which 
could prejudice the Company’s rights and financial returns. In addition, the Company has ensured that its own staff members 
are seconded to key management positions in the joint ventures, such that the Company can monitor and has the ability to 
influence operational decisions.
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Relations with Shareholders 
In accordance with Code provision D.1.1, the Chairman meets as required with the major shareholders. Non-executive 
Directors, including the Senior Independent Director, are given the opportunity to attend meetings with the major shareholders 
to discuss their views. The Senior Independent Director should, in accordance with Code provision D.1.1, attend meetings 
with a range of major Shareholders to listen to their views. The Senior Independent Director is available to shareholders if they 
have specific concerns that cannot be resolved through normal channels of communication with the Chairman or Chief 
Executive.

Business presentations are made for the full year and interim results to institutional investors. Briefings are also given to 
analysts and other meetings are held to discuss the Company’s strategy with institutional investors and other significant 
shareholders on an annual basis. The Group obtains independent feedback on these meetings through its corporate  
brokers and investor relations consultant. The Company makes constructive use of the AGM to communicate with private 
shareholders. A business presentation is given at the AGM.

The Company posts the annual report and notice of AGM at least 20 working days before the AGM. At the AGM, separate 
resolutions are proposed on each significant business issue. The Company provides shareholders voting by proxy with the 
option of withholding their vote on a resolution. Voting is by way of a show of hands by members present at the meeting 
unless a poll is validly called and this practice will continue. At the AGM, the number of proxy votes lodged for each 
resolution, including votes “For”, “Against” and “Withheld”, are available for review by shareholders. There is an intention  
to publish the details of proxies lodged on resolutions where votes are taken on a show of hands.

During the year, the Company introduced the use of CREST proxy voting at general meetings.

Going Concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis since the Directors are satisfied that the Group can 
reasonably expect that adequate resources are available for it to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Non-compliance with the requirements of the Code:
The Board believes the Company has been in compliance with the provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code  
with the following exceptions, which the Directors do not consider to be fundamental to the exercise of good corporate 
governance. 

A.3.2 Currently, eight of the Company’s twelve directors are Non-executive Directors. Given the stringent definition of 
“independent” under the Code, the Company acknowledges that six Non-executive Directors are not strictly considered  
to be independent for the following reasons: 

QIAN Benyuan was formerly appointed by a major PRC company which is a shareholder in the Company. Dennis CHIU is the 
brother of Daniel CHIU who is the Executive Vice-Chairman of the Group. Ian TAYLOR is the President of the Vitol Group of 
companies, which is a significant shareholder of the Company. LI Anxi and ZHI Yulin are appointed by major PRC companies 
which are shareholders in the Company. Louisa HO became a Non-executive Director in September 2006 and was formerly 
Finance Director of the Group. 

A.3.1 This provision provides that “the Board should determine whether the non-executive Director is independent in 
character and judgement” and whether there are relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear  
to affect, the Director’s judgement.” The Non-executive Directors noted above who are connected to major shareholders  
of the Company are appointed to assist the development of the Group and to promote its activities in the PRC. The Board 
recognises that they bring a valuable range of international experience and expertise. During the year, the Board considered 
that Mr QIAN Benyuan should continue to serve as Chairman of the Board. The Board believes that QIAN’s character and 
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integrity are such that the Board should benefit significantly from his continuing chairmanship. The Directors consider that all 
Non-executive Directors provide significant input as Non-executive Directors to the Board and are independent in character 
and judgement. Despite the fact that Ian TAYLOR is connected to a major shareholder, he is considered to be independent in 
the exercise of his duties. The Board will continue to consider the issue of Non-executive Directors and will make additional 
appointments if considered necessary. 

A.7.2. The Board is aware of the provision in the Code governing the re-election of Non-executive Directors for terms beyond 
six years. Dennis CHIU, Ian TAYLOR and QIAN Benyuan have served on the Board for more than nine years, in terms of the 
Code they can be counted as independent only if the Board deems them to be so and will need to seek re-appointment as a 
Director on an annual basis. The Board considers that, given their integrity, this does not affect the independence of these 
long serving Non-executive Directors. The Non-executive Directors’ industry wide experience and long-standing contribution 
to the Board are well-recognised and the Board believes that they should be re-elected as Directors. Whilst such limits as to 
term under the Code help to ensure that fresh ideas and views are available to the Board, they have the disadvantage of 
losing the contribution of Directors who have a wealth of understanding of the Group’s business and the management team. 
The individual interest in serving on the Board as a Non-executive Director for terms beyond six years as stated in A.7.2 
should not, in the opinion of the Board, be prejudiced. 

The Company considers that the strong representation on the Board by Non-executive Directors, although not entirely 
independent in accordance with the definition of “independence” set out in Code provision A.3.1, provides an effective Board, 
which contains both a mixture of industry-specific knowledge and broad business and commercial experience in China. 

A.4.1 This provision states that the Board should establish a Nomination Committee to make recommendations to the  
Board on all new Board appointments. The Board believes it more appropriate, and therefore has resolved that, nominations 
to the Board should be considered by the Board as a whole, rather than delegating this task to a Nomination Committee as 
recommended by the Code. 

B.1.6 This provision requires notice or contract periods to be set at one year or less in service contracts. None of the 
Executive Directors have service contracts. The Board believes that service contracts would not be in the best interests of  
the Company: in the event that a contract is terminated before its expiry terms, the Company would need to make payments 
in lieu of notice since it usually provides for pre-determined amounts of compensation on termination of the contract. The 
Group policy concerning Directors’ service contracts and its termination policy are set out in the Remuneration Report on 
page 36. The terms and conditions of appointment of the Non-executive Directors are available on the Company’s website 
and will also be available for inspection at the Company’s registered office and at the 2007 AGM. 

B.2.1 This provision requires the Remuneration Committee to consist exclusively of independent Non-executive Directors. 
WANG Jinjun, an independent Non-executive Director is the Chairman of the Committee and the remaining three members 
(including the Company Chairman) who make up the Remuneration Committee are not considered independent. However, 
none of these three Committee members have any personal financial interest in the matters to be decided, or potential 
conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships or any day-to-day involvement in the running of the business.

B.2.2 The Remuneration Committee comprises the four Non-executive Directors, which includes the Chairman who is also  
a Non-executive Director. The setting of the Chairman’s remuneration is the responsibility of the Executive Committee. The 
Board believes that this is appropriate.

C.3.1 This provision requires an Audit Committee of at least three, or in the case of smaller companies (not within the  
FTSE 350) two, members, who should all be independent Non-executive Directors. While the Chairman is independent,  
the two members are not Independent for the reasons disclosed above. On a strict interpretation of the Code, the Audit 
Committee does not have at least one member who fulfils the relevant financial experience criteria set out in the Code. 
However, the Board believes that all members of the Audit Committee are of a high calibre and have extensive management, 
business and financial experience in large international organisations such that the necessary functions of the Committee are 
competently carried out. 
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The Remuneration Report sets out the policy and disclosures on Executive Directors’ and Senior Executives’ remuneration 
and has been prepared in accordance with the provisions in the Directors Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and the 
relevant requirements of the Combined Code attached to the Listing Rules. 

The auditors are required to report to the shareholders on the auditable part of this Report. This Report has therefore been 
divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information. The auditors’ opinion is included in their report on 
pages 42 and 43.

SECTION 1: UNAUDITED INFORMATION

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee members are WANG Jinjun (Chairman), Dennis CHIU, QIAN Benyuan and Ian TAYLOR, all of 
whom are Non-executive Directors of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration policy as applied to the Executive Directors of the Company and 
Senior Executives of the Group. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee is 
also responsible for approving changes to the Company’s share option schemes and also for approving share option grants. 
It consults with the Executive Vice-Chairman and the Chief Executive and has access to professional advice from appropriate 
internal and external sources, as considered necessary. The Company has not employed any remuneration consultants. 

The Board is satisfied that none of the Remuneration Committee members have any personal financial interest, other than as 
shareholders, in the matters to be decided, no conflicts of interest arising from cross directorship and no involvement in the 
day-to-day running of the Company’s business. 

The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are available at www.fortune-oil.com.

Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and Senior Executives
The objectives of the remuneration policy for Executive Directors and Senior Executives are:

• to ensure that the remuneration packages offered attract, retain and motivate individuals of the highest calibre to further 
the success of the business;

• to link reward to both individual and business performance, whilst aligning the interests of Directors and shareholders;

• to link the Executives to the long-term success of the Group through appropriate incentive share scheme arrangements.

The remuneration policy is designed to reward executives fairly and responsibly for their contribution without the Company 
paying more than necessary to achieve this objective. 

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Board maintain contact as required with the Company’s principal shareholders 
regarding implementation and the effectiveness of the remuneration schemes. 

In formulating the remuneration policy and determining the remuneration package, due notice has been taken of a number  
of considerations including appropriate comparators, the Group’s positioning and relative size, geographical variations and 
recruitment and retention difficulties. 

The remuneration package consists of short-term rewards (basic salary, annual bonus and benefits) together with long-term 
benefits (participations in long-term incentive plan). In principle, it should strike a balance between fixed and performance 
related elements of pay. Details of the emoluments to Executive Directors and fees payable to Non-executive Directors are  
set out on page 38. The following remuneration components are reviewed to ensure that they are supportive of the Group’s 
business objectives and in the creation of shareholder value.
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1. Basic Salary
The basic salary is determined by taking into account an individual’s performance and responsibilities, his/her relevant 
skills and experience, individual circumstances in relation to the particular post and comparator company information  
for similar jobs. Salaries are reviewed against the background of both business and individual performance. 

2. Annual Bonus Scheme
Bonuses are awarded at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee and in recognition of the individual’s contribution 
to the success of the Company and upon the personal achievement of specified objectives. The features are:

i. all Directors, executives and regular employees are eligible to participate in the scheme (Non-executive Directors may 
not participate in the scheme);

ii. the bonus for achieving on-target performance is a maximum of 25 per cent of the basic salary, with a maximum of 50 
per cent of basic salary for significant over-achievement. The bonus shall not exceed 10% of gross annual profit; and 

iii. two types of performance criteria will be considered in connection with the award of the annual bonus and they are

•	 Personal	Performance	Criteria

The personal performance criteria of the Executive Directors and Senior Executives are the same as those defined  
in the Long Term Incentive Plan, 2004 share schemes and their annual work objectives for the executive and senior 
employees.

•	 Financial	Performance	Criteria

They are based wholly on challenging financial performance targets. For executives and employees assigned to 
business units and joint ventures, the financial performance criteria are tied to the annual budget, which is approved 
by the appropriate board. 

For Head Office executives and employees, the financial performance criteria are tied to the profit after tax before 
exceptionals (“PATBE”). For this purpose, 15 per cent growth per annum is considered as the target. 

These criteria are used for both short term rewards and a long term incentive plan which are targeted at both personal 
and company performance and align the interests of Directors with those of shareholders by linking share and cash 
incentive payments to performance.

Payment of a bonus is carefully considered in each individual case and only made when justified by reference to financial 
and operational yardsticks. A bonus can be in the form of cash or shares. 

On 27 June 2006, 4 Executive Directors and 4 Senior Executives were awarded an annual bonus in shares for the year 
2005 from the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust. The shares were awarded at a price of 6 pence per share, the closing 
price of the shares on 26 June 2006. The level of bonus awarded was 8.3% of salary. Details are on page 38 in this 
Remuneration Report.

3. Benefits
Benefits are considered individually and by reference to relevant criteria to ensure the total remuneration package 
conforms with the aims of the remuneration policy.

4. Pension
There is no pension provision made for employees of the Group.
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5. Share Option Schemes
The Company currently operates four Share Option Schemes:

i.	 Inland	Revenue	Unapproved	Share	Option	Scheme	(“the	1990	Unapproved	Scheme”)

This option scheme was terminated in 2000 following the tenth anniversary of its adoption by the Company in general 
meeting in June 1990. The last options granted in 1999 remained exercisable until 31 October 2006. 

During the year 1,250,000 ordinary shares were issued on the exercise of options and 4,000,000 share options 
remained unexercised and lapsed on the 7th anniversary of the date of grant, i.e., 1 November 2006.

ii.	 China	Executive	Share	Option	Scheme	(“China	Scheme”)

The China Scheme is also an unapproved share scheme and was adopted by the Board on 28 May 1997.  
China Scheme options will lapse if they have not been exercised within 10 years of their date of grant and also  
on termination of an option holder’s employment with the Group. The date of grant of the first and latest award  
of options under the China Scheme was in October 1999.

There is currently a Non-executive Director (who was formerly an Executive Director) holding share options under the 
China Scheme.

These two share option schemes do not comply with current best practice, as there were no performance criteria linked 
to the schemes, as it was not market practice for the schemes to impose performance criteria at the time the grants were 
made. Grants of share options are made at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

Following approval by shareholders at the AGM in June 2004, the Company adopted two new Employee Share Option 
Schemes. One scheme is approved by the Inland Revenue and the other is operated as an unapproved scheme. 

The share options under both the 2004 Approved and Unapproved Schemes were granted by the Trustees of the 
Company’s Employee Benefit Trust on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee of the Board.

iii.	 The	Fortune	Oil	PLC	2004	UK	Inland	Revenue	Approved	Employee	Share	Scheme	(the	“2004	Approved	

Scheme”)

Participation under the Scheme is open to employees (including Executive Directors and qualifying employees working 
75% of their time for a company in the Fortune Oil Group of companies) who do not have (or have not had in the last 
12 months) a material interest in the Company (i.e. more than 25% of the ordinary share capital). The exercise price is 
specified at the time the options are granted and must not be significantly less than their market value at that time. An 
option will normally be exercisable following the third anniversary of grant and before the tenth anniversary of its grant, 
provided the participant remains in employment and subject to satisfaction of the performance conditions set by the 
Remuneration Committee from time to time. The market value of shares for which a participant may hold unexercised 
options is limited to £30,000, calculated at the time the option is granted. In principle, an individual cannot be entitled 
to shares under option to a value of more than six times his earnings. The total number of shares over which options 
are granted in any ten year period (whether exercised or not), when added to all such options granted under all other 
share schemes of the Company including the Senior Executive Incentive Plan, shall not exceed 10% of the fully diluted 
ordinary share capital of the Company in issue at that time.

There are currently options over 493,421 ordinary shares granted to an employee. The options entitle the participant 
to exercise between 8 June 2008 and 7 June 2015. The exercise price is 6.08 pence per share and that the option 
price set was the market value defined as the average of the quotations on the three dealing days before grant of the 
option. The exercise of all options granted under the 2004 Approved Scheme is conditional on the achievement of 
individual performance criteria determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The personal performance conditions applying to all options are reviewed at the end of the performance period and 
are not re-tested. As an all-employee scheme approved by the Inland Revenue (now HM Revenue & Customs), there 
are no financial performance conditions attaching to the exercise of options.
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iv.	 The	Fortune	Oil	PLC	2004	Unapproved	Employee	Share	Scheme	(the	“2004	Unapproved	Scheme”)

The principal terms of the 2004 Unapproved Scheme are the same as the Approved Scheme set out above excepted 
as noted below:

The statutory limit of £30,000 worth of share options per participant will not apply. However, no participant will receive 
options worth more than one times their annual salary in any one year and no participant shall receive an option 
whereby the number of shares received under this scheme when aggregated with the shares under any other scheme 
including the Senior Executive Incentive Plan exceeds 3.5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company, from 
time to time. The exercise price on grant may be set at a level other than the market value of the shares at the time of 
grant of the option. In principle, an individual cannot receive options if he would be entitled to shares under option to a 
value of more than six times of his earnings.

During the year, 110,000 option shares lapsed due to the cessation of an employee’s employment. As a result, there 
are currently options over 5,626,579 ordinary shares granted to 16 employees (none of whom are Directors). The 
options entitle the participants to exercise between 8 June 2008 and 7 June 2015. The exercise price is 6.32 pence 
per share. Options were granted at the closing price prevailing at the date of grant. The exercise of all options granted 
under the 2004 Unapproved Scheme is conditional on the achievement of individual performance criteria determined 
by the Remuneration Committee. The performance criteria set are with specific job responsibilities. The Scheme is 
structured to reflect the performance of the employees as well of that of the business area of the Group.

The personal performance conditions applying to all options are reviewed at the end of the performance period and 
are not re-tested. The Company operates this 2004 Unapproved Scheme for all employees and there are no financial 
performance conditions attaching to the exercise of options.

6.	 Long	term	incentives	–	The	Fortune	Oil	PLC	2004	Senior	Executive	Incentive	Plan		(the	“Plan”)	and	amended	Long	

Term	Incentive	Plan	(“LTIP”)

The Plan is operated by the Trustees of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust, subject to the rules of the LTIP approved 
by the shareholders on 7 December 1999 and as amended on 25 June 2004.

The specific aim of the Plan is to motivate individuals to achieve profitable and sustainable growth for the Company by 
giving them an opportunity to accumulate a meaningful participation in the share capital of the Company, as a reward for 
achieving outstanding returns for shareholders. Executive Directors in Fortune Oil PLC and certain Senior Executives of 
various subsidiaries of the Group are eligible to participate in the Plan, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. 

Under the Plan, these eligible employees are eligible to receive awards of a number of shares, the vesting of which is 
contingent on specified performance targets and continued employment with the Group. 

The awards under the LTIP were granted on 27 June 2006, the first anniversary of the grant of the option. The maximum 
award made to the Executive Directors and Senior Executives was 50% of base salary and the minimum was 25% of base 
salary. The total notional bonuses awards for the year from 1 June 2005 to 31 May 2006 to the four Executive Directors 
were £112,138 and their right to receive these shares is conditional upon the individual remaining an employee of the 
Group for a period of at least two further years from June 2006.

The Directors to whom awards were made were four Executive Directors, LI Ching, John PEXTON, Louisa HO and  
GONG Min, and four Senior Executives. 

The number of shares over which the options granted are based on (i) the relevant Director/Executive’s performance over 
12 months and (ii) the Company’s performance over the three-year period from the date of grant. If the Director/Executive 
delays exercising the option until four years or five years from the date of grant, the number of shares that he/she receives 
increases. The share option will not be capable of exercise before the end of three years from the date of grant except in 
special circumstances, and will lapse after ten years if not exercised before that date.
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The personal performance criteria is an objective measure of productivity of the individual and all people working directly 
for that Director/Executive. It is set at the time the option is granted and will have 2 thresholds reflecting:

i. good (significantly above average) performance; and 
ii. exceptional performance

Whether or not the performance level have been met is determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The Company performance criteria is an objective measure of economic performance of the Company e.g. shareholder 
return, profits before taxes, interest, exceptional expenditure and/or increase in market share. The performance criteria is 
set at the time the option is granted and will have 2 thresholds reflecting:

i. good (significantly above average) performance; and 
ii. exceptional performance

The number of shares, if any, awarded pursuant to the Plan is subject to personal and Company performance criteria 
being met. If the personal performance criteria is achieved then the share option will give the Director/Executive rights 
over a certain number of shares. If the Company performance criteria is achieved then the number of shares subject to 
the option will be increased. Failure to meet the Company performance criteria will not reduce the number of shares 
already earned by the Director/Executive by virtue of the personal performance targets having been met. Each option is  
a nil cost option over ordinary shares in the Company and the number of shares to which the individual director/executive 
is entitled under the option will vary. 

The options will only be exercisable after three years and will lapse after the tenth anniversary of grant if not exercised 
before that date. When an option is exercised on or after the third anniversary of the grant then the number of share  
under the option will be increased according to whether the Company has met certain performance criteria in the three 
year period to June 2008. The Company’s performance criteria are weighted 60% in respect of increased profit after tax 
and before exceptional (“PATBE”) and 40% in respect of total shareholder return (“TSR”). TSR is measured as being the 
increase in share value plus all dividends paid. In relation to TSR, the performance of the Company is considered to be 
“good” where TSR increases by above 15 per cent per annum on average and “exceptional” performance is where TSR  
is above 20 per cent per annum on average. In relation to PATBE, the performance of the Company is considered to be 
“good” where PATBE increases by 15 per cent or more on average per annum and “exceptional” performance is where 
PATBE increases by 20 per cent or more on average per annum.

There were no comparator Group companies or sectors whose performance were considered appropriate or could be 
used to benchmark the performance of management. These performance criteria were chosen by the Remuneration 
Committee after consultation with the Company’s financial and legal advisers. The Remuneration Committee is satisfied 
that these criteria represent a challenging and transparent financial measure which can be calculated from published 
accounting information.

The increase in the number of shares covered by the options as a result of good or exceptional Company performance is 
calculated as follows:

 Increase in notional bonus for Increase in notional bonus for

Date of Exercise Good Company Performance Exceptional Company Performance

On or after 3rd anniversary 
 but before 4th anniversary  20% 40%
On or after 4th anniversary 
 but before 5th anniversary 40% 100%
On or after 5th anniversary  100% 200%



remuneration report

36	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

The LTIP is designed to operate for a maximum of 10 years from 1999 and was adopted at the Company’s extraordinary 
general meeting held on 7 December 1999. It is operated in conjunction with an Employee Benefit Trust. The LTIP rules 
provide that the maximum number of shares awarded shall not exceed 7% of the issued ordinary share capital of Fortune Oil 
PLC, from time to time. The LTIP rules also prevent individuals from receiving shares if their cumulative award would exceed 
3.5% of the issued ordinary shares of Fortune Oil PLC, from time to time. The LTIP (as amended in 2004) permits the grant of 
share options pursuant to the rules of the LTIP. 

During the year there were distributions of 586,163 shares from the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust as an annual bonus 
for 2005 to Executive Directors and Senior Executives. A total of 59,413,837 ordinary shares are held by JTC Trustees 
Limited, the Trustee of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust. At 31 December 2006, the market value of the 59,413,837 
shares was £3,374,706. (31 December 2005: 60,000,000 shares, £3,528,000). It is intended that these shares are continued 
to be used to provide bonus shares and any shares exercised under any of the 2004 Approved Scheme and Unapproved 
Schemes and of the LTIP. 

Policy on external appointments
Generally Executive Directors may accept external appointments as Non-executive Directors of other companies and retain 
any related fees paid to them. These appointments must not be with a competing company and their duties must not 
materially dilute or adversely affect the Executive Director’s contribution under the terms of his/her appointment with the 
Group. Directors may usually retain payments arising from such appointments.

Service Contracts and Termination Policy
No Directors have a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries. The Remuneration Committee believes that  
a service contract would not be in the best interests of the Group since it provides for pre-determined amounts of 
compensation on termination of contract. The Company applies the principle of mitigation in the event of early termination  
on its own particular merit. The Committee expects Directors and Senior Executives to mitigate any losses arising on 
termination but will tailor its approach to individual cases.

With the exception of Daniel CHIU and LI Ching, all Directors have letters of engagement or appointment. All Directors  
are subject to retirement by rotation every three years in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Non-executive Directors
Non-executive Directors are appointed by letters of appointment and do not have contracts of service or contracts for 
services. They are appointed for a three-year term and may be appointed for further fixed period subject to the Articles of 
Association of the Company, after which an appointment can be renewed by the agreement of the Board. Each appointment 
is terminable on one month’s notice by either the Director concerned or the Company with no predetermined compensation 
amount on termination. 

  Date of
Non-executive Date of current letter  Notice period by
Directors Appointment of Appointment Expiry Date Company/Director

Dennis CHIU* 9-Aug-1993 28-Oct-2006 27-Oct-2009 1 month
Ian TAYLOR*1 9-Aug-1993 28-Oct-2006 27-Oct-2009 1 month
QIAN Benyuan* 28-May-1997 28-Oct-2006 27-Oct-2009 1 month
Trevor BEDFORD  8-Feb-1999 28-Oct-2006 27-Oct-2009 1 month
ZHI Yulin 30-Nov-2000 28-Oct-2006 27-Oct-2009 1 month
Louisa HO2 15-June-2001 1-Sep-2006 31-Aug-2009 1 month
WANG Jinjun 26-Nov-2003 21-Nov-2006 20-Nov-2009 1 month
LI Anxi 22-June-2005 22-June-2005 21-June-2008 1 month

* Subject to annual re-election

1 Ian TAYLOR became a Non-executive Director on 24 June 1996. He was an Executive Director between 9 August 1993 and 23 June 1996.

2 Louisa HO became a Non-executive Director on 1 September 2006. She was an Executive Director between 15 June 2001 and  
31 August 2006.
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Policy on Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman 
The policy on remuneration of Non-executive Directors is determined by the Board, by reference to practice in companies 
similar in size to the Company. The fees payable to Non-executive Directors are ratified by the Board after discussion between 
the Executive Directors. The level of fees is reviewed against market practice and takes into account market rates and the 
required time commitment. Non-executive Directors receive fixed fees plus reimbursement of expenses for attending Board 
and other meetings. They are not eligible for performance-related bonuses or awards under the Company’s LTIP or any of the 
Company’s share option schemes. 

The setting of the Chairman’s remuneration is the responsibility of the Executive Directors and not the Remuneration 
Committee in accordance with the Combined Code B.2.2. The fees paid to the Chairman include his time for performing  
his additional role on the Remuneration Committee. 

Apart from QIAN Benyuan, Trevor BEDFORD, WANG Jinjun and Louisa HO, the other 4 Non-executive Directors received  
no emoluments as an employee or Director in the financial year ended 31 December 2006.
 
Directors’ interests in Shares 
According to the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 325 of the Companies Act 1985, as amended, the 
following Directors were the only Directors who held any interests, all of which are beneficial, in the ordinary shares of the 
Company at 31 December 2006: 

 Ordinary Shares of 1p

    
Award of the

      Conditional right to receive
    

annual bonus
      the ordinary shares held in

  
Ordinary Shares  in shares  Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares

  the Company’s Employee
  

held at  for 2005 on  acquired  held at 31
  Benefit Trust1

  1 January 2006  27 June 2006  during the year  December 2006  31/12/2006  31/12/2005

Executive Directors
Daniel CHIU2 717,244,897  –  –  717,244,897  –  –
LI Ching3 16,174,537  108,033  –  16,282,570  648,283  –
John PEXTON 237,607  91,950  –  329,557  551,716  –
GONG Min –  57,466  –  57,466  172,416  –

Non-executive Directors
Dennis CHIU2 717,244,897  –  –  717,244,897  –  –
Trevor BEDFORD4 1,353,055  –  499,903  1,852,958  –  –
Louisa HO –  82,750  –  82,750  496,550  –

1 The right to receive these shares is conditional inter alia upon the individual remaining an employee of the Group for a period of at least two 
further years from June 2006.

2 This figure represents a combined interest in ordinary shares held in the names of First Level Holdings Limited (“First Level”) (647,244,897 
ordinary shares) and Goldman Sachs Securities (Nominees) Limited ILSEG ACCT (70,000,000 ordinary shares). First Level is a company  
in which the majority of shares are owned by Daniel CHIU, with the remaining shares being held by Dennis CHIU. The above interest of 
717,244,897 shares relate to the same block of shares.

3 There are 1,300,000 shares held by Euroclear Nominees Limited EOC01 account, which LI Ching has a beneficial interest.

4 On 23 May 2006, Trevor BEDFORD acquired 222,000 ordinary shares at 6.1p each and 100,000 ordinary shares at 6.175p each. On  
16 October 2006, he acquired 165,000 ordinary shares at 5.89p each. On 21 November 2006, Mrs BEDFORD acquired 12,903 ordinary 
shares at 7.7p each. Their shares are held in nominees accounts, which Mr and Mrs BEDFORD have a beneficial interest.

Ian TAYLOR, a Non-executive Director, is the President of the Vitol Group of Companies. Vitol Energy (Bermuda) Limited is a major 
shareholder, registered with 158,157,748 ordinary shares (representing 8.61% of the total issued share capital), in the Company. 

Louisa HO became a Non-executive Director on 1 September 2006 and was previously an Executive Director. 

None of the other Directors held any interests in shares in the Company or the Group at 31 December 2006 or at  
31 December 2005.

There has been no change to the Directors’ interests in the period between 1 January 2007 and the date of this Report.
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SECTION 2: INFORMATION SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Directors’ Emoluments
Details of emoluments of the Executive Directors and fees payable to Non-executive Directors are set out below:

 Salary/Fees Bonus in Cash Bonus in shares1 Benefits2 Total emoluments

Amount in £’000 2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005

Executive Directors
Daniel CHIU 14  15  1  –  –  –  5  3  20  15
LI Ching 36  39  11  –  –  6  15  13  62  58
John PEXTON 82  45  7  –  –  5  27  16  116  66 3

GONG Min 27  16  9  –  –  3  8  5  44  24 3

Louisa HO (between 1 January – 
 31 August 2006) 44  72  3  –  –  4  –  –  47  76
Bruce McGOWAN4 27  80  –  –  –  –  –  –  27  80

Non-executive Directors
QIAN Benyuan 41  23  –  –  –  –  –  –  41  23 5

Trevor BEDFORD 25  20  –  –  –  –  –  –  25  20
WANG Jinjun 9  5  –  –  –  –  –  –  9  5
Louisa HO6

(between 1 September – 
 31 December 2006) 10  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  10  –

All Directors except Trevor BEDFORD were paid in HK$ and RMB. The average exchange rate used for the year was  
£1: HK$ 14.31 and £1: RMB14.67 (2005: £1: HK$ 13.36 and £1: RMB14.90).

Performance Graph
The graph below illustrates the total shareholder return (“TSR”) of Fortune Oil PLC over a five year period in respect of a 
holding of the Company’s shares and the TSR in respect of a hypothetical holding of shares of a similar kind and number  
by reference to which a broad equity market index is calculated. The Company is a constituent of the FTSE All-Share index 
and, as such, this is considered to be the most appropriate comparator group.

Performance graph, showing the TSR of Fortune Oil and the FTSE All Share index over the last five calendar years: 

Performance Graph
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Note
1 The Executive Directors received, equivalent to one-month’s base salary, the ordinary shares as an annual bonus in shares for 2005 from  

the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust. Their shares were awarded on 27 June 2006 at price of 6 pence per share, the closing price of the 
shares on 26 June 2006, as detailed on page 37, Directors’ interests in shares.

2 The principal benefits are the provision of an accommodation allowance, club membership fees, car park allowance and reimbursed  
driver expenses.

3 The emoluments were from their date of appointment as Directors on 22 June 2005.

4 Bruce McGOWAN retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.

5 The Non-executive Director’s fee was for 7 months from 1 June 2005.

6 Louisa HO became a Non-executive Director on 1 September 2006 and was previously an Executive Director.

No other Directors received any remuneration. None of the Directors received any pension contributions. No payments were 
made during 2006 or 2005 in connection with retirement benefits, compensation for loss of office to past Directors and to 
third parties in respect of Director’s services.

Directors’ interests in share options 
The options outstanding to acquire ordinary shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the terms of the 1990 
Unapproved Scheme and the China Scheme are as follows:

Options over ordinary shares of 1p

  
Type of  Date  Lapsed

 Number of shares
  

option Date of from which  during
 exercisable at 2.75 p each

  scheme grant exercisable Expiry date the year 31/12/2006 31/12/2005

Non-executive Directors
QIAN Benyuan Unapproved 01.11.1999 01.11.2000 31.10.2006 1,000,000 – 1,000,000
Louisa HO1 China 01.11.1999 01.11.2000 31.10.2009 – 5,000,000 5,000,000

1 Louisa HO was granted the options under the China Scheme when she was Group Financial Controller.

No other Directors have any interest in options over the Company’s shares.

The consideration paid in respect of the grant of each of the options under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme was £1. No 
consideration was payable on the grant of any other of the above option. 

No performance criteria are attached to the exercise of options granted under the China Scheme as it was established before 
performance conditions became a normal requirement. 

No Directors’ share options were granted during the year. 

As detailed on page 40 LTIP shares in the year awarded to LI Ching, John PEXTON, GONG Min and Louisa HO have been 
recognised. As detailed in note 21 to the group financial statements, an expense has also been recognised in relation to 
share-based payments.

There have been no changes in the Director’s interest in share options between 1 January 2007 and the date of this Report.
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Directors’ interests in shares under the LTIP Awards
The awards held by the Executive Directors pursuant to the LTIP are as follows:

            Earliest date on
          Value of shares  which an award
  At 01.01.2006  Date of award  Awarded in year  At 31.12.2006  at award date  can be exercised

LI Ching –  27.06.2006  648,283  648,283  £38,897  27.06.2008
John PEXTON –  27.06.2006  551,716  551,716  £33,103   27.06.2008
GONG Min –  27.06.2006  172,416  172,416  £10,345  27.06.2008
Louisa HO1 –  27.06.2006  496,550  496,550  £29,793  27.06 2008

1 Louisa HO will not participate further in the LTIP for performance periods on or after 1 September 2006, when she became a Non-executive 

Director and 496,550 ordinary shares are her basic amount of shares in the LTIP.

The above awards made, following the first anniversary of the grant of the option, were all at the price of 6 pence per share, 
which was the market price at close of business on 26 June 2006.

No shares awarded pursuant to the LTIP have vested during the year (2005: nil). The right to receive these shares is 
conditional upon the individual remaining an employee of the Group for a period of at least two further years. Performance 
conditions attaching to awards made under the LTIP are detailed earlier in the Report.

The closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares at 29 December 2006 was 5.68p (2005: 5.88p). The highest and lowest 
closing prices for the shares during the year were 8.10p and 5.00p, respectively. 

In accordance with the requirement of Section 241(A) of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution will be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting on Tuesday, 19 June 2007 to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report. It is an advisory vote and the 
Board recommends that shareholders vote in favour of the approval of this Report.

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 11 May 2007 and signed on its behalf by

WANG	Jinjun

Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are 
required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union and have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The 
financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and 
of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• for the Group financial statements, state whether the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the  
European Union;

• for the Parent Company financial statements, state applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to assume that the Group and the 
Parent Company will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that the financial statements comply with these requirements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the Group’s 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements and other 
information included in annual reports may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

At the date of the Directors’ Report, each of the Company’s Directors, as set out on page 22, confirm the following:

• so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant information needed by the Company’s auditors in connection with 
preparing their report of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and

• each Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware 
of any relevant information needed by the Company’s auditors in connection with preparing their report and to establish 
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

statement of directors’ responsibilities for  
the financial statements
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We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (“the financial statements”) of Fortune Oil PLC for  
the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the group income statement, the Group and Parent Company balance 
sheets, the group cash flow statement, the group statement of changes in equity and the related notes. These financial 
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies  
Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The directors responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and for preparing 
the Parent Company financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance  
with the Companies Act 1985 and whether, in addition, the group financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in  
the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report includes  
the specific information that is cross-referred from the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review and the  
Business Review.

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received 
all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 
2003 FRC Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if  
it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls,  
or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. The other information comprises only the project portfolio, the company profile, the Chairman’s Statement,  
the Chief Executive’s Review, the Business Review, the Board of Directors, the Directors’ Report, the Corporate Governance 
statement and the part of the Remuneration Report that is described as being unaudited. We consider the implications for  
our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

independent auditors’ report to the shareholders  
of Fortune OIL PLC
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Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the 
significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether  
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary  
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion: 

• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of 
the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2006 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulation;

• the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of affairs of the Parent Company as at 31 December 2006; 

• the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

RSM Robson Rhodes LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London, England
11 May 2007
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group income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006

Amount in £’000 Note 2006  2005

Revenue including share of jointly controlled entities 2 175,771	 143,057

Share of revenue of jointly controlled entities  (132,500	) (98,068 )

Group	revenue  43,271	 44,989

Cost of sales  (33,912	) (36,851 )

Gross	profit  9,359	 8,138

Exceptional gains 4	 2,551	 –

Exceptional charges 4 (834	) (629 )

Administrative expenses  (4,444	) (4,617 )

Share of results of jointly controlled entities  2,942	 2,810

Profit	from	operations 4 9,574	 5,702

Finance costs 5 (471	) (454 )

Investment Income 6 168	 156

Profit	before	taxation  9,271	 5,404

Taxation 7 (617	) (544 )

Profit	for	the	year  8,654	 4,860

Attributable	to

Equity shareholders  4,307	 2,792

Minority interests  4,347	 2,068

  8,654	 4,860

Earnings	per	share

Basic 8 0.24	 0.16

Diluted 8 0.24	 0.16
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group statement of changes in equity

      Share      Total 
  Ordinary  Treasury  premium  Translation  Retained  Shareholders’  Minority  Total 
Amount in £’000  shares  shares  account  reserve  earnings  equity  interests  Equity 

Group

Balance at at 1 January 2005  18,336  (725 ) 37,318  (1,982 ) (20,840 ) 32,107  10,488  42,595

Issue of share capital  15  –  26  –  –  41  –  41

Movement in treasury shares  –  (35 ) –  –  –  (35 ) –  (35 )

Currency translation differences 

– Group  –  –  –  2,062  –  2,062  1,489  3,551

– jointly controlled entities  –  –  –  1,982  –  1,982  –  1,982

Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  2,792  2,792  2,068  4,860

Share-based payments  –  –  –  –  63  63  –  63

Dividend paid  –  –  –  –  –  –  (2,319 ) (2,319 )

Balance at 31 December 2005  18,351  (760 ) 37,344  2,062  (17,985 ) 39,012  11,726  50,738

Issue of share capital  12  –  22  –  –  34  –  34

Movement in treasury shares  –  (35 ) –  –  –  (35 ) –  (35 )

Currency translation differences 

– Group  –  –  –  (2,375 ) –  (2,375 ) (1,520 ) (3,895 )

– jointly controlled entities  –  –  –  (2,404 ) –  (2,404 ) –  (2,404 )

Capital reduction  –  –  (37,344 ) –  37,344  –  –  – 

Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  4,307  4,307  4,347  8,654

Share-based payments  –  –  –  –  139  139  –  139

Dividend paid  –  –  –  –  –  –  (3,265 ) (3,265 )

Balance	at	31	December	2006 18,363		 (795	)	 22		 (2,717	)	 23,805		 38,678		 11,288		 49,966

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations, a subsidiary of the company established in the PRC is required to transfer 

a certain percentage of the profit after tax to certain capital reserve funds. Included in the retained earnings is £1,794,000 

(2005: £1,131,000) of capital reserve funds. Those are only available for distribution when the operating term of the subsidiary 

ends or when the subsidiary goes into liquidation.
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group balance sheet
as at 31 December 2006

Amount in £’000 Note 2006  2005

Assets
Non-current	assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 24,539	 26,747
Investment properties 10 1,577	 1,800
Goodwill 11 943	 1,074
Other intangible assets 12 992  914
Investments in jointly controlled entities 13 21,083	 19,410
Other investment 13 101	 117

  49,235	 50,062

Current	assets
Inventories 14 1,070	 2,151
Trade and other receivables 15 6,249	 6,272
Cash and cash equivalents  8,202	 11,713

  15,521	 20,136

Total	assets  64,756	 70,198

Liabilities
Current	liabilities
Borrowings 18 3,427	 1,944
Trade and other payables 16 5,362	 9,813
Current tax liabilities 17 170	 241

  8,959	 11,998

Non-current	liabilities
Borrowings 18 5,567	 7,126
Deferred tax liabilities 19 264	 336

  5,831	 7,462

Total liabilities  14,790	 19,460

Net	assets  49,966	 50,738

Shareholders’	equity
Ordinary shares 20 18,363	 18,351
Treasury shares 22 (795	) (760 )
Share premium account 22 22	 37,344
Translation reserves 22 (2,717	) 2,062
Retained earnings  23,805	 (17,985 )

Total shareholders’ equity  38,678	 39,012
Minority interests  11,288	 11,726

Total	equity  49,966	 50,738

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 11 May 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Li	Ching	 John	Pexton

Director Director

The notes on pages 48 to 72 form part of these financial statements.
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group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities
Profit for the year 8,654  4,860
Adjustments for:
 Share of post-tax results of jointly controlled entities (2,942	) (2,810 )
 Taxation 617  544
 Amortisation and depreciation 2,508  2,419
 Impairment 834  158
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35  803
 Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertakings (188	)	 –
 Share-based payments 139  63
 Investment income (168	) (156 )
 Finance costs 471	 454
 Decrease/(increase) in inventory 842	 (413 )
 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (706	) 2,076
 Decrease in trade and other payables (3,428	)	 (1,859 )

Cash generated from operations 6,668  6,139

Finance costs (471	) (454 )
Taxation paid (665	)	 (545 )

Net cash generated from operating activities 5,532	 5,140

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities
Investment income 168  156
Dividend received from jointly controlled entities 2,463	 1,496
Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,708	)	 (7,383 )
Payments for other intangible assets (223	)	 (14 )
Payments for investment properties –		 (187 )
Receipt from disposal of subsidiary undertakings 305  –
Receipt from disposal of property, plant and equipment 66  99
Acquisition of business/subsidiaries –	 (3,273 )
Investment in jointly controlled entities (3,072	) –
Repayment from jointly controlled entities –  794
Loan to jointly controlled entities (335	)	 –

Total cash flows used in investing activities (5,336	)	 (8,312 )

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital 34	 41
Loan from minority shareholders 429  478
Repayment of loans to minority shareholders (441	)	 –
Dividend paid to minority shareholders (3,265	)	 (2,346 )
Repayment of loans (689	)	 (1,194 )
Increase in loans 1,663	 –

Total cash flows used in financing activities (2,269	)	 (3,021 )

Net	decrease	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents (2,073	)	 (6,193 )
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	the	year 11,713  16,086
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,438	) 1,820

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	the	year 8,202  11,713
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General information
Fortune Oil PLC is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. The address of the 
registered office is given on the back cover page. The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set  
out in the Director’ Report on page 22 to 24 and in the Business Review on pages 7 to 19.

1. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 
related interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and those parts of the 
Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs. The financial statements have also been prepared  
in accordance with IFRSs adopted for use within the European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS 
Regulations. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations, which have not been 
applied in these financial statements, were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 7  Financial Instruments; Disclosures; and the related amendment to IAS 1 on capital disclosures;
IFRIC 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 in Hyper-Inflationary Economies;
IFRS 8  Operating Segments;
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (amended);
IFRIC 8  Scope of IFRS2;
IFRIC 9  Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives;
IFRIC10  Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment;
IFRIC 11  IFRS2; Group and Treasury Share Transactions; and
IFRIC 12  Service Concession Arrangements.

The directors anticipate that adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on 
the financial statements of the Group.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain properties. The 
principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The Group has adopted IFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources” for the first time in these group financial 
statements. 

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings and 
include the results of jointly controlled entities and associates. The results and net assets of undertakings acquired or 
disposed of during a financial year are included in the Group profit and loss account and balance sheet from the effective 
date of acquisition or to the effective date of disposal. Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are 
identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date  
of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses 
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of  
the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to 
cover the losses. Subsidiary undertakings have been consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting and jointly 
controlled entities and associated undertakings are included in accordance with the accounting policies noted below.

Investments in the PRC
In respect of major infrastructure projects, the Group’s investment in an undertaking in the PRC is made with one or more 
other parties under a “joint venture” arrangement, with the parties involved taking an agreed interest in the issued share 
capital of the undertaking. The arrangement is intended to provide necessary financial and operational support to the  
project as well as providing strong local connections and typically an arrangement will include at least one representative  
from the PRC. The arrangement is supported by a “joint venture agreement” between the parties that specifies the terms of 
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1. Accounting policies continued

Investments in the PRC continued

the arrangement, including details regarding the structure and composition of the board of directors and practical working 
arrangements. The amount of equity interest and the terms of the joint venture agreement will generally determine whether 
the investment is recorded as a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity or associate, primarily based on the control of the board 
and the ability to control the strategic financial and operating policies of the undertaking.

Subsidiary undertakings
The Group’s interest in subsidiary undertakings comprises investments in undertakings where the Group either holds in 
excess of 50 per cent of the issued share capital of the undertaking and owns more than half of the voting power or where 
the Group has the power to controls the strategic, financial and operating policies of the undertaking concerned.

Jointly controlled entities
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities comprise investments in undertakings where the Group normally owns 
between 20 per cent and 50 per cent of the voting power of the undertaking and where the Group shares in the control of  
the strategic financial and operating policies of the undertaking concerned by agreement but does not exercise the level of 
control for the undertaking to be regarded as a subsidiary. Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting.

Associates 
The Group’s interests in associates comprise investments in undertakings where the Group normally holds between  
20 per cent and 50 per cent of the issued capital of the undertaking and where the Group shares in the control of the 
strategic financial and operating policies of the undertaking concerned but does not reach the level of shared control  
required to be accounted for as a jointly controlled entity. Associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting.

Other investments
Investments are recorded at cost less provision for impairment to the extent considered necessary.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value to the Group of the net assets and any 
contingent liabilities acquired. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually and any impairment is recognised 
in profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included 
in the determination of the profit or loss in disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts 
subject to being tested for impairment at that date.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:

Motor vehicles, fixtures and fittings 3 to 6 years

Single point mooring buoy and related equipment 6 to 18 years (over the term of the contract)

Leasehold property/improvements over the leasehold period

LPG tanks and facilities 20 years

Land use rights 18 years

Storage tanks and jetty 3 to 38 years

Pipelines 20 to 30 years (over the term of the contract)
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1. Accounting policies continued

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation and are stated at fair
value at the balance sheet date. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Other intangible assets 

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation which is charged to the income statement over the 
estimated life of the intangible asset.

Exploration and evaluation assets

The Group adopts the successful efforts method of accounting for exploration and evaluation costs. All licence acquisition, 
exploration and evaluation costs are initially capitalised in cost pools by well, field or exploration area, as appropriate. Directly 
attributable expenditure is capitalised insofar as it relates to specific exploration and development activities. Pre-licence  
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. These costs are then written off unless commercial reserves  
have been established or the determination process has not been completed and there are no indications of impairment. 
Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs are not amortised. At a future date, when it is determined that these costs will  
be recouped through successful development and exploitation it is intended that expenditure will be transferred to plant, 
property and equipment.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
The carrying amount of the Group’s assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in 
the income statement.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Leasing

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. Cost is determined on the first-in first-out basis and includes  
all costs incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their present location and condition.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises both current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustments 
to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
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1. Accounting policies continued

Taxation continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all deductible temporary differences except in respect of taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in jointly controlled entities where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised.

Foreign currencies
The functional and presentation currency of Fortune Oil plc is pounds sterling. The functional currencies of overseas 
operations are the Hong Kong dollar and Chinese renminbi. In the accounts of individual Group companies, the Group 
translates foreign currency transactions into the functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising are taken to profit and loss. 

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of overseas operations are retranslated into the presentation currency of 
Fortune Oil plc at the rate of exchange ruling the balance sheet date and their income statements are translated at the 
average exchange rate for the year. The exchange differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly to a separate 
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount recognise in equity relating to that particular 
foreign operation shall be recognised in the income statement.

The Group has elected not to record cumulative translation differences arising prior to the transition date as permitted by 
IFRS 1. In utilising this exemption, all cumulative translation differences are deemed to be zero as at 1 January 2004 and all 
subsequent disposals shall exclude any transaction differences arising prior to the date of transition.

Financial instruments

Trade receivables and payables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts. Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial liability and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of  
its liabilities.

Bank borrowings

Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges are 
accounted for on an accrual basis in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying 
amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 
goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes. In respect of  
oil trading transactions, where the Group does not act as the principal then only management fees and commission are 
recognised as revenue. 

The group undertakes some construction contract work within its Natural Gas business. When the outcome of a construction 
contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
contract, as measured by the proportion of total costs at the balance sheet date to the estimated total cost of the contract. 
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised immediately.

Share-based payments
The cost of providing share-based payments to employees is charged to the income statement over the vesting period  
of the related share options or share allocations. The cost is based on the fair value of the options or shares granted and  
the number of awards expected to vest. The fair value of each option is determined using an appropriate pricing model at  
the date of granting. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the fair value of the share. Non market related 
performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the number of awards expected to vest.

Treasury shares
Company shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are presented within reserves until such time as 
the interest in shares is transferred unconditionally to the employees. Costs of administering the trust are charged to the profit 
and loss account as incurred.

Pensions
The Group does not operate any pension schemes that carry obligations similar to defined benefit arrangements.
Contributions to social benefits for employees are charged to profit as incurred.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The main estimates and judgements that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

a) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. This requires the use of certain estimates regarding 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate. 

b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying value of property, plant and equipment each year to ascertain if there are any indications of 
impairment. This assessment, and any impairment testing, requires the use of certain judgements and estimates regarding 
the future cash flows expected to arise from the assets.

c) Investments in joint ventures

The Group reviews annually the carrying value of its investments in joint ventures in order to ascertain whether there are any 
indications of impairment. This requires the use of estimates regarding future cash flows expected to arise from the joint 
venture and a suitable discount rate.

d) Exploration and evaluation assets

The Group reviews the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets each year to ascertain if there are any indications of 
impairment. This assessment, and any impairment testing, requires the use of certain judgements and estimates regarding 
the future cash flows expected to arise from the assets.
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2. Segmental Reporting

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into four major divisions. These divisions are the basis on which 
the Group reports its primary segment information.

a) Business segments

 Single point   Oil trading  Central
 mooring facility Aviation Natural Gas & storage* Others** administration Group

Amount in £’000 2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005  2006  2005

Revenue including share of
 jointly controlled entities 12,136  11,810  126,049  92,899  13,194  5,685  19,631  28,258  4,761  4,405  –  –  175,771  143,057

Share of revenue of
 jointly controlled entities –  –  (126,049 ) (92,899 ) (724 ) –  (966 ) (814 ) (4,761 ) (4,355 ) –  –  (132,500 ) (98,068 )

Group revenue 12,136  11,810  –  –  12,470  5,685  18,665  27,444  –  50  –  –  43,271  44,989

Exceptional gains 1,943  –  –  –  –  –  608  –  –  –  –  –  2,551  –

Exceptional charges (424 ) (629 ) –  –  –  –  (410 ) –  –  –  –  –  (834 ) (629 )

Profit from operations
 (including share of 
 results of jointly 
 controlled entities) 7,077  4,456  2,243  2,336  1,235  137  (331 ) (749 ) 93  143  (743 ) (621 ) 9,574  5,702

Finance costs                         (471 ) (454 )

Investment income                         168  156

Profit before taxation                         9,271  5,404

Taxation                         (617 ) (544 )

Profit for the year                         8,654  4,860

Attributable to

Equity shareholders                         4,307  2,792

Minority interests                         4,347  2,068

Capital additions 2,488  3,223  –  –  2,108  7,298  564  335  305  –  –  2  5,465  10,858

Depreciation and
 amortisation 1,443  1,547  –  –  777  565  286  306  1  –  1  1  2,508  2,419

Impairment 424  –  –  –  –  –  410  158  –  –  –  –  834  158

Net assets: by class
 of business

Assets 15,318  17,841  14,273  16,318  20,235  20,240  14,038  15,588  753  129  139  82  64,756  70,198

Liabilities (1,291 ) (3,239 ) (13 ) (14 ) (4,826 ) (5,421 ) (8,538 ) (10,657 ) (5 ) (2 ) (117 ) (127 ) (14,790 ) (19,460 )

 14,027  14,602  14,260  16,304  15,409  14,819  5,500  4,931  748  127  22  (45 ) 49,966  50,738

b) Geographical operations
With the exception of operating loss of £561,000 (2005: £545,000) in respect of central administration in the United Kingdom, 
all of the Group’s activities are carried out in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Directors are of the opinion that the PRC and 
Hong Kong form one geographic segment.

* Includes overheads in Hong Kong/PRC offices.

** Others include distribution and CBM unit.
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2. Segmental Reporting continued

c) Analysis of group revenue

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Sales of Goods 40,076  42,114
Income from construction contracts 2,210  1,724
Rental income 758  1,095
Others 227  56

  43,271  44,989

3. Staff Costs

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Staff costs, including directors:
Wages and salaries 1,733  1,610
Social security costs 13  16
Share-based payments 139  63

  1,885  1,689

Number 2006  2005

The average monthly number of employees during the year, including directors:
Management and administration 139  159
Engineering and operations 219  261
Oil trading, marketing and project development 53  155

  411  575

There are no contributions to staff pension schemes.

Directors’ emoluments
Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out below (none of which is related to performance):

 Highest paid Director  All Directors

Amount in £’000 2006  2005  2006  2005

Fees –  –  85  48
Salaries and benefits 116  80  316  304

Total 116  80  401  352

None of the Directors accrue retirement benefits under money purchase or defined benefit scheme.
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4. Profit for the year

Profit for the year is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 2,455  2,363
Amortisation of land use right 53  56
Diminution in value of investment property –  158
Staff costs 1,885  1,689
Auditors’ remuneration (see below)
– audit services 122  125
– non-audit services 19  18
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35  174
Provision for doubtful debt 127  –
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings 198  321
Cost of inventories recognised as cost of sales 25,790  27,637

Exceptional Gains:
 Write back of accrual for staff welfare (1,943 ) –
 Waiver of borrowing (410 ) –
 Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (198 ) –

Total Exceptional Gains  (2,551 ) –

Exceptional Charges:
 Impairment of fixed assets 834  –
 Loss on disposal of a single point mooring buoy –  629

The staff welfare fund accrual has been written back to profit following changes in Company Law in the People’s Republic of 
China effective from 1 January 2006. The Directors have obtained legal opinion that the changes are such that the relevant 
companies within the Group are no longer obliged to set aside profits in respect of staff welfare funds.

The exceptional gain on the waiver of borrowings relates to the acquisition of a minority interest’s share in a subsidiary 
undertaking. A loan from the minority interest to the subsidiary was acquired by the Group and the extinguishment of this 
liability to a third party has resulted in a gain in the consolidated financial statements.

The exceptional impairment charge arises following a review of the carrying value of particular items of property, plant and 
equipment. Impairment indicators in respect of these assets were trading losses in certain subsidiaries and a revised estimate 
of the recoverability of certain capitalised costs. The assets have been impaired to their recoverable amounts, these being 
value in use. Value in use was estimated using cash flow projections discounted at a pre-tax rate of 8%.

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Analysis of auditors’s remuneration:
Fee payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of financial statements 110  112
Audit of the financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 12  13
Other services relating to taxation 11  18
Services relating to corporate finance transactions 8  –
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5. Finance costs

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Finance costs:
 on bank loans (182 ) (149 )
 on other loans (289 ) (305 )

Total finance costs (471 ) (454 )

6. Investment income

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Investment income:
 on bank deposits 138  123
 others 30  33

Total investment income 168  156

7. Taxation

The taxation charge for the year is analysed below:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Current tax
Group current tax
UK tax –  –
Foreign tax 651  598

Total current tax 651  598

Deferred tax
Net reversal of timing differences – Group (34 ) (54 )

Total deferred tax (34 ) (54 )

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 617  544
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7. Taxation continued

The tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax and is explained below.

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 9,271  5,404

Theoretical tax at PRC corporation tax rate 33% 3,059  1,783
Effects of:
– Share of results of joint controlled entities (970 ) (927 )
– nil or lower tax in PRC (1,768 ) (832 )
– tax losses carried forward 536  575
– utilization of tax losses credit not previously recognized (204 ) –
– other expenditure that is not tax deductible 198  173
– other timing differences (200 ) (174 )

Total current tax 651  598

The above reconciliation uses a 33% standard rate of tax, being the standard rate of tax payable in the PRC, where the 
majority of the Group’s activities take place.

At the balance sheet date the Group had unused tax losses of £4,761,000 (2005: £4,755,000) arising from operations in the 
PRC, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses due to the 
unpredictability of future profits.

The Group tax charge above does not include any amounts for jointly controlled entities, whose results are disclosed in the 
income statement net of tax.

No provision has been made for taxation which would arise on the distribution of profits retained by overseas subsidiary 
undertakings or jointly controlled entities, on the basis that the Company is able to control the remittance of profit.

8. Earnings per share

Earnings per share have been calculated on the earnings activities after taxation and minority interest of £4,307,000 (2005: 
£2,792,000).

 2006 2005

  No.    No.
  ’000  pence  ’000  pence

Basic 1,775,985  0.24  1,774,293  0.16
Share option adjustment 6,281  –  8,618  –

Diluted 1,782,266  0.24  1,782,911  0.16
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9. Property, plant and equipment

Group   Motor  Single  Short
  Assets in  vehicles,  point  Leasehold
  the course of  fixtures  mooring  property &  LPG tanks
Amount in £’000 construction  & fittings  buoy  improvements  & facilities  Pipelines  Total

Cost
At 1 January 2005 980  2,100  15,757  2,070  2,633  5,429  28,969
Exchange differences 130  354  1,826  311  338  1,216  4,175
Acquisition of business assets –  130  –  129  –  2,968  3,227
Additions 2,512  1,493  3,217  22  33  106  7,383
Disposals –  (14 ) (2,352 ) (99 ) –  –  (2,465 )
Reclassification (2,337 ) –  –  332  46  1,959  –

At 31 December 2005 1,285  4,063  18,448  2,765  3,050  11,678  41,289
Exchange differences (141 ) (400 ) (2,257 ) (265 ) (269 ) (1,081 ) (4,413 )
Additions 436  595  2,367  11  6  1,293  4,708
Disposal of subsidiaries –  (25 ) –  –  (420 ) (775 ) (1,220 )
Disposals (30 ) (36 ) (62 ) (78 ) (85 ) –  (291 )
Reclassification (1,103 ) 175  637  116  –  175  –

At 31 December 2006 447  4,372  19,133  2,549  2,282  11,290  40,073

Depreciation
At 1 January 2005 –  1,292  8,206  614  1,870  282  12,264
Exchange differences –  156  924  67  270  61  1,478
Charge for the year –  218  1,502  150  107  386  2,363
Disposals –  (8 ) (1,530 ) (25 ) –  –  (1,563 )

At 31 December 2005 –  1,658  9,102  806  2,247  729  14,542
Exchange differences –  (176 ) (1,223 ) (80 ) (208 ) (86 ) (1,773 )
Charge for the year –  321  1,386  146  105  497  2,455
Disposal of subsidiaries –  (16 ) –  (41 ) (172 ) (105 ) (334 )
Disposals –  (27 ) –  (10 ) (153 ) –  (190 )
Impairment –  60  424  –  350  –  834

At 31 December 2006 –  1,820  9,689  821  2,169  1,035  15,534

Net book value
At 31 December 2006 447  2,552  9,444  1,728  113  10,255  24,539

At 31 December 2005 1,285  2,405  9,346  1,959  803  10,949  26,747
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10. Investment properties

Amount in £’000   Fair Value

At 1 January 2005   1,438
Exchange differences   181
Transferred from other intangible assets   152
Additions   187
Fair value adjustment   (158 )

At 31 December 2005   1,800
Exchange differences   (223 )

At 31 December 2006   1,577

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties has been determined by reference to discounted cash flow projections  
as there is not an active market for the investment properties. The property rental income earned by the Group from its 
investment properties amounted to £154,000 (2005: £108,000). Direct operating expenses arising on the investment 
properties amounted to £89,000 (2005: £73,000).

11. Goodwill

Amount in £’000   Goodwill

Cost
At 1 January 2005   968
Exchange differences   106

At 31 December 2005   1,074
Exchange differences   (131 )

At 31 December 2006   943

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2005, 31 December 2005, 31 December 2006   –

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2006   943

At 31 December 2005   1,074

Goodwill arose upon the acquisition of Beijing Fortune Huiyuan Gas Company Limited in the Natural Gas business segment  
in 2003. The recoverable amount of the goodwill is based on value in use calculations which use cash flow projections for  
16 years discounted at a pre-tax discount rate of 10%.
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12. Other intangible assets

  Exploration and
Amount in £’000 evaluation assets  Land use right  Total

Cost
At 1 January 2005 –  1,389  1,389
Transferred to investment property –  (208 ) (208 )
Exchange differences –  182  182
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary –  47  47
Additions –  14  14

At 31 December 2005 –  1,424  1,424
Exchange differences –  (100 ) (100 )
Additions 223  –  223
Disposal of subsidiaries –  (84 ) (84 )
Disposal –  (10 ) (10 )

At 31 December 2006 223  1,230  1,453

Amortisation
At 1 January 2005 –  442  442
Transferred to investment property –  (56 ) (56 )
Exchange differences –  68  68
Charge for the year –  56  56

At 31 December 2005 –  510  510
Exchange differences –  (57 ) (57 )
Charge for the year –  53  53
Disposal of subsidiaries –  (45 ) (45 )

At 31 December 2006 –  461  461

Net book value
At 31 December 2006 223  769  992

At 31 December 2005 –  914  914
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13. Investments

The followings are the Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings:

   Parent
   and Group 
   interest in
  Country of ordinary
  incorporation shares  Percentage Percentage Term of
  and and voting  share of control of initial
Company operation rights profit board contract Nature of business

Maoming King Ming China 56% 40% 42.9% 20 Construction and
Petroleum      operation of single
Company Limited      point mooring facility
(note 1)

Guangzhou Fortune Oil China 100% 100% 100% Perpetual Trading in petroleum
Company Limited      products and investment
       in retail petrol stations
       in Beijing

Beijing Fortune Huiyuan China 80% 80% 71.4% 30 Provision of natural gas
Gas Company Limited      and operation of gas
       stations

Zhanjiang Fu Duo Gas China 80% 80% 71.4% 25 Storage and distribution
Company Limited      of LPG
(note 2)

Luquan Fu Xin Gas China 51% 51% 60% 30 Provision of piped
Company Limited      natural gas

Beijing Fuhua Dadi Gas China 53% 53% 60% 30 Provision of piped
Limited      natural gas

Qufu Fu Hua Gas China 61% 61% 60% 50 Provision of piped
Company Limited      natural gas

Shanxi Jingping Natural China 48% 48% 60% 20 Provision of piped
Gas Limited      natural gas

Shuozhou Fu Hua Natural China 64% 64% 60% 20 Provision of piped
Gas Limited      natural gas

Shanxi Jingshuo Natural China 44% 44% 60% 20 Provision of piped
Gas Limited      natural gas

Fortune Liulin Gas Hong Kong 60% 60% 100% 20 Exploration, production 
Company Limited      and trading of Natural
(note 3)      Gas



notes to the group financial statements

62	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

13. Investments continued

All companies are held indirectly through subsidiary companies.

A full list of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is produced in the Annual Return.

1.	 Maoming	King	Ming	Petroleum	Company	Limited	(MKM)	is	controlled	through	an	arrangement	where	the	foreign	companies	as	an	alliance	

in	the	arrangement	own	70	per	cent	of	the	equity	of	MKM	and	are	entitled	to	receive	50	per	cent	of	its	retained	profits	through	annual	and	

final	distributions.	Fortune	itself	owns	56	per	cent	of	the	equity	of	MKM	and	is	entitled	to	40	per	cent	of	retained	profits.

	 Cooperative	joint	venture	agreements	in	the	PRC	infrastructure	assets	held	by	the	various	subsidiary	companies	above	are	structured	over	

a	fixed	period	which	specifies	that	the	fixed	assets	relating	to	the	venture	are	transferred	at	£	Nil	to	the	corresponding	PRC	company	with	

any	residual	net	assets	being	divided	between	the	parties	as	specified	in	the	agreement.

	 MKM	has	been	consolidated	within	these	accounts	on	the	basis	that	the	Group	has	the	power,	through	its	voting	rights	on	the	Board	of	

Directors,	to	control	the	strategic	financial	and	operating	policies	of	the	company	and	because	of	the	continued	level	of	benefits	received.	

In	order	for	the	Group	to	maintain	MKM	as	a	subsidiary	company	under	the	requirements	of	IFRS,	which	does	not	share	the	same	

concept	of	dominant	influence	as	UK	GAAP,	changes	were	made	to	the	voting	structures	and	arrangements	of	the	Board	of	Directors	of	

MKM	during	2005.	These	changes	ensure	that	the	Group	has	the	power	to	control	MKM	as	a	subsidiary	company.	The	Directors	have	

obtained	legal	opinion	that	the	changes	made	to	the	voting	arrangements,	which	were	made	through	formal	board	resolutions	and	

approval,	have	the	effect	of	being	binding	on	the	underlying	joint	venture	agreement	terms	and	cannot	be	changed	other	than	by	further	

board	resolutions	–	where	the	Group	now	exercises	majority	control.	The	voting	structures	were	changed	during	2005	such	that	the	

Group	obtained	formal	confirmation	from	the	one	independent	shareholder	and	MKM	board	member	that	they	would	always	vote	in	

accordance	with	the	Group	on	all	Board	matters.	This	change	in	voting	structure	gives	Fortune	majority	control	of	the	Board	with	three	

directors	plus	one	connected	director	out	of	the	total	of	seven	directors.

2.	 Following	the	Extraordinary	General	Meeting	on	21	June	2006,	shareholder	approval	was	obtained	for	the	Group	to	acquire	an	additional	

22.5%	interest	in	Zhanjiang	Fu	Duo	Gas	Company	Limited	(“Fu	Duo”),	taking	its	interest	to	80%.	At	the	date	of	approval	of	these	financial	

statements,	certain	government	approvals	were	outstanding,	however	the	Directors	are	of	the	opinion	that	the	Group	has	reached	

substantive	agreement	with	the	vendor	and	acquired	the	additional	interest.

3.	 In	April	2006,	the	Group	announced	a	conditional	agreement	to	develop	Coal	Bed	Methane	(“CBM”)	gas	reserves	in	Shanxi	Province	

through	an	agreement	with	Molopo	Australia	Limited	(“Molopo”).	At	31	December	2006,	the	Group	owned	100%	of	the	issued	share	

capital	of	Fortune	Liulin	Gas	Company	Limited	(“Fortune	Liulin”).	This	agreement	was	finalised	in	April	2007,	and	the	production	sharing	

contract	(“PSC”)	has	been	transferred	to	Fortune	Liulin.	Accordingly,	the	Group’s	share	of	the	Company	has	dropped	to	60%	with	effect	

from	April	2007.

Group   Net loans  
 Interest in  (from)/  Total
 jointly  to jointly  jointly
 controlled  controlled  controlled  Other
 Amount in £’000 entities  entities  entities  investments

Share of net assets/cost
At 1 January 2006 20,225  (815 ) 19,410  117
Exchange differences (2,504 ) 100  (2,404 ) (16 ) 
Advance –  335  335  –
Reclassification of subsidiary (615 ) 806  191  –
Addition of investment 3,072  –  3,072  –
Dividend (2,463 ) –  (2,463 ) –
Share of retained profit 2,942  –  2,942  –

At 31 December 2006 20,657  426  21,083  101

At 31 December 2005 20,225  (815 ) 19,410  117

The reclassification of a subsidiary relates to Tianjin Tianhui Natural Gas Limited which ceased to be a subsidiary in 2006 
when the Group’s control of the Company fell from 60% to 50%. The Company has therefore been reclassified as a jointly 
controlled entity. Further disclosures are in note 27.
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13. Investments continued

Jointly controlled entities
The followings are the Group’s principal jointly controlled entities:

 Country of  Percentage Percentage Term
 incorporation  share of  control of of initial Group
Company and operation Principal activity profit board contract interest

South China Bluesky Aviation  China Construction and 24.5% 25% 25 24.5%
Oil Company Limited  operation of aviation 
  oil storage and supply 
  facilities

Zhuhai Special Economic Zone China Storage of petroleum 37% 33.3% 30 37%
South China Petroleum  products and
Company Limited  operation of jetty

Jining Qufu New Fu Hong China Provision of piped 50% 50% 30 50%
Gas Limited  natural gas

Tianjin Tianhui Natural China Provision of piped 40% 50% 20 40%
Gas Limited  natural gas

Beijing City Badaling China Operation of gasoline 55% 50% 15 55%
Highway Service Station  stations

Following the Extraordinary General Meeting on 21 June 2006, shareholder approval was obtained for the Group to acquire a 
50% holding in South China Terminals Limited, taking its holding to 100%. This subsidiary company is an investment holding 
company and holds a 37% interest in Zhuhai Special Economic Zone South China Petroleum Company Limited – the Group 
therefore now holds a 37% interest in this jointly controlled entity. The consideration paid for the additional interest was 
£2,902,000 (US$5,700,000).

The companies where the group has a control of board of equal to or less than 50 per cent are recorded as jointly controlled 
entities in accordance with the terms of the underlying joint venture agreements. For the companies above, the control  
of strategic, financial and operating policies are shared between two or more parties that are involved in the jointly  
controlled entities.

There is no Board of Directors in Beijing City Badaling Highway Service Station. Fortune has control of 50% of the 
management committee.
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13. Investments continued

Note to Jointly controlled entities
The Group’s share of the results and net assets of its jointly controlled entities is shown below:

 2006 2005

Amount in £’000 Bluesky * Others  Total  Bluesky * Others  Total

Revenue 126,049  6,451  132,500  92,899  5,169  98,068

Expenses 123,404  5,742  129,146  90,112  4,665  94,777
Profit before tax 2,645  709  3,354  2,787  504  3,291
Profit after tax 2,297  645  2,942  2,349  461  2,810

Non-current assets 18,559  5,520  24,079  21,468  3,987  25,455
Current assets 21,985  1,598  23,583  21,461  1,268  22,729
Current liabilities (26,271 ) (718 ) (26,989 ) (26,611 ) (1,331 ) (27,942 )
Non-current liabilities –  (16 ) (16 ) –  (17 ) (17 )

Net assets 14,273  6,384  20,657  16,318  3,907  20,225

* South China Bluesky Aviation Oil Company Limited

Bluesky’s fixed assets include goodwill £2.3 million (2005: £1.2 million)

14. Inventories

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Petroleum stocks 1,070  2,151

15. Trade and other receivables

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Debtors – amount falling due within 1 year
Trade debtors 2,133  2,539
Bills receivables 26  82
Due from customer for contract work 284  471
Other debtors 2,320  2,931
Prepayments and accrued income 1,486  249

  6,249  6,272

An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable trade debtors of £127,000 (2005: Nil).
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16. Trade and other payables

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Trade creditors 842  2,661
Bills payables –  904
Other creditors 4,268  3,665
Creditors for taxation and social security 4  6
Accruals and deferred income 248  2,577

  5,362  9,813

17. Current tax liabilities

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Current tax liabilities 170  241

18. Borrowings

Current liabilities

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Bank loans 3,427  1,944

Non-current liabilities

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Loan from major shareholders 3,198  4,244
Loan from equity minority interests 2,369  2,882

  5,567  7,126

Total borrowings 8,994  9,070
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19. Deferred tax liabilities

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

At 1 January 336  354
Exchange rate differences (38 ) 36
Credited to income statement (34 ) (54 )

At 31 December 264  336

Deferred tax
Deferred tax comprises:

  Accelerated
Amount in £’000 tax depreciation  Other  Total

At 1 January 2006 325  11  336
Exchange rate differences (38 ) –  (38 )
Credited to income statement (15 ) (19 ) (34 )

At 31 December 2006 272  (8 ) 264

20. Share capital

Group

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Authorised
2,400,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p each 24,000  24,000

Issued share of 1p each fully paid
1,836,335,868 ordinary shares of 1p each 18,363  18,351
(2005: 1,835,085,868 ordinary share of 1p each)

The increase in issued shares was due to the exercise of share options during the year.



notes to the group financial statements

67	 Fortune	Oil	PLC		annual report

21. Share-based payments

Analysis of share options as at 31 December 2006:

  2006 2005

    Weighted    Weighted
    average    average
  Options  exercise price  Options   exercise price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 19,480,000  3.89p  14,750,000  2.75p
Granted during the year –  –  6,230,000  6.30p
Exercised during the year (1,250,000 ) 2.75p  (1,500,000 ) 2.75p
Lapsed during the year (4,110,000 ) 2.84p  –  –

Outstanding at the end of the year 14,120,000  4.30p  19,480,000  3.89p

Exercisable at the end of the year 8,000,000  2.75p  13,250,000  2.75p

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 6.01 pence 
(2005: 6.26 pence).

The options outstanding at the end of the year have an exercise price in a range from 2.75 pence up to 6.32 pence and a 
weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.9 years (2005: 4.8 years).

All awards under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme and the China Scheme (with details on page 33) were issued prior to  
7 November 2002. No share options were issued by the Group between 7 November 2002 and 31 December 2004.  
On 8 June 2005, share options were granted to certain members of staff under the “2004 Approved Scheme” and  
“2004 Unapproved Scheme” (with details on page 33 and 34). These have been valued using a Trinomial valuation model with  
the following assumptions:

Fair value at grant date 3.39p
Share price at grant date 6.32p
Exercise price 6.32p
Expected volatility 46.357%
Option life 10 years
Expected dividend yield nil
Risk-free interest rate 4.145%

The Group recognised total expenses of £139,000 (2005: £63,000) related to share-based payments transactions during  
the year.
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22. Reserves

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
the PRC and Hong Kong operations.

Treasury shares
The shares are held by JTC Trustees Limited as the trustee for future distribution to employees. Following the shareholder 
approval at the AGM on 25 June 2004, the 2004 Senior Executive Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is currently operated by the 
trustee of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust, subject to the rules of the Long Term Incentive Plan as amended in 2004 
(“LTIP”). There is a specified Remuneration Committee Policy in relation to the operation of the Plan under the LTIP rules.

Additional details are given in the Remuneration Report. At 31 December 2006 the investment represented 3.2 per cent 
(2005: 3.3 per cent) of the called up ordinary share capital of Fortune Oil PLC.

The total number of shares held in the name of JTC Trustees Limited is 59,413,837 (2005: 60,000,000).

The market value of shares was £3,375,000 at 31 December 2006 (2005: £3,528,000).

Share premium account
Following shareholder approval at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 21 June 2006, a court order was issued on 12 July 
2006 authorising the cancellation of the Company’s share premium account as at 31 December 2005 of £37,344,000 of 
which the sum of £21,362,000 was set-off against the deficit on the Company’s profit and loss account and the sum of 
£15,982,000 applied in creating a special reserve. Following satisfaction in full of all creditors of the Company at the date of 
the Petition who had not formally consented to the cancellation of the share premium account, the sum of £15,982,000 held 
in the special reserve was transferred to the Company’s profit and loss account.

23. Financial Instruments

Foreign currency risk
The Group operates primarily in the People’s Republic of China and Hong Kong and is exposed to the risk of changes in 
currency exchange rates in these two countries. At present no foreign exchange hedging is undertaken by the Group.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest bearing debts are subject to floating rates of interest linked to LIBOR and PRC prevailing borrowing rate. 
No interest rate hedging is currently undertaken by the group.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises on financial instrument such as trade receivables. The company monitors credit risk by scrutinising 
customers’ profile and periodical review of aging of amount dues.

Effective interest rates
The Group’s borrowings were subject to effective interest rates at the balance sheet date as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Non-interest bearing 1,490  1,237
Floating rate 7,504  7,833

  8,994  9,070
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23. Financial Instruments continued

Foreign currency exposure
The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings denominated in foreign currency is as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

US dollars 3,198  4,244
Chinese renminbi 5,796  4,826
Hong Kong dollars –  –

  8,994  9,070

Fair values
The book and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005 are not materially 
different. Fair value has been determined by reference to discounted cash flow analysis.

Maturity profile of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Group’s non-current borrowings is as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

One to two years 5,175  6,209
Between two and three years 392  917

  5,567  7,126

Borrowing facilities
The Group pledged cash amounting to £402,000 (2005: £1,686,000) to secure banking facilities during the year. The Group 
has an aggregate undrawn banking facilities, which are on floating rate, amounting to £13,086,000 (US$25,701,000) (2005: 
£3,738,000 (US$6,443,000)).

As detailed in note 28, the Group has signed a US$50 million term loan after the balance sheet date.
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24. Operating lease arrangements

The Group as Lessee:
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable 
operating leases in respect of property, which fall due as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 287  282
In two to five years 275  233
Over five years 106  123

  668  638

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable 
operating leases (in respect of plant and equipments), which fall due as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year –  5
In two to five years –  10

  –  15

The Group as lessor:
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Commitments under operating lease (receivables)
Within one year 109  115
In two to five years 545  141
Over five years 210  294

  864  550

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease receivables under  
non-cancellable operating leases (in respect of plant and equipments), which fall due as follows:

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 44  –

  44  –
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25. Capital commitments

  2006 2005

  Commitments for Commitments for
  capital expenditure in capital expenditure in

    jointly controlled    jointly controlled
Amount in £’000 subsidiaries  entities   subsidiaries   entities

Outstanding at 31 December 2006
Contracted for but not provided for 
 in the financial statements 72  3,871  25  2,588

26. Related party transactions and significant contracts

The Group’s related parties, the nature of the relationship and the extent of transactions with them are summarised below:

Amount in £’000 Sub note  2006  2005

Loans from equity minority interests to subsidiaries 1  (2,369 ) (2,882 )
Other loans from major shareholders 2  (3,198 ) (4,244 ) 
Interest paid and payable to major shareholders 2  261  239
Trade account receivable from minority shareholders 3  1,750  1,479
Shareholder loans to/(from) jointly controlled entities 4  426  (815 )
Interest received from jointly controlled entities 5  –  9
Sales of goods to Vitol Asia 6  2,966  –
Current account with Vitol Asia 6  392  97

Key management remuneration which the Directors consider relates to Directors of the Company, is disclosed in note 3 to the 
financial statements.

Sub Notes
1.	 The	loans	included	£392,000	(2005:	£918,000)	from	Zhanjiang	Gas	Company	(ZGC),the	corporate	shareholders	of	the	Group’s	subsidiary,	

Zhanjiang	Fu	Duo	Gas	Company	Limited	which	has	representatives	on	the	Board.	ZGC	has	20	percent	of	voting	rights	and	share	captial.	

In	2005,	the	balance	included	loans	from	ZGC	and	Vitol	Asia	Pte	Ltd	of	£432,000	and	£486,000	respectively.	The	Group	has	acquired	

Vitol	Asia	Pte	Ltd’s	22.5	percent	of	voting	rights	and	share	capital	during	the	year.	The	loan	also	included	£1,977,000	(2005:	£1,964,000)	

from	the	minority	shareholders	of	Shanxi	Jingshuo	Natural	Gas	Limited,	Beijing	Fuhua	Dadi	Gas	Limited	(DADI),	Luquan	Fu	Xin	Gas	

Company	Limited,	Shanxi	Jingping	Natural	Gas	Limited	and	Shuozhou	Fu	Hua	Natural	Gas	Limited.	Except	for	£879,000	from	minority	

shareholders	of	DADI	which	is	interest	bearing,	they	are	unsecured,	interest	free	and	without	fixed	payment	terms.

2.	 Other	loans	at	31	December	2006	were	from	the	major	shareholder	First	Level	Holdings	Limited	(FLHL)	£3,198,000	(2005:	£4,244,000).	

The	amount	due	is	unsecured,	interest	bearing	and	without	fixed	payment	term.	The	interest	paid	and	payable	to	FLHL	was	£261,000	

(2005:	£239,000)	.	The	interest	owed	at	31	December	2006	to	FLHL	was	£21,000	(2005:	£25,000).

3.	 Maoming	Petrochemical	Corporation	(MPCC)	is	a	corporate	shareholder	of	the	Group’s	subsidiary,	Maoming	King	Ming	Petroleum	

Company	Limited	and	has	representatives	on	the	Board.	Throughputting	turnover	from	MPCC	and	port	charges	payable	to	MPCC	

amounted	to	£11,252,000	and	nil	respectively	(2005:	£11,226,000	and	£3,014,000).	£1,460,000	was	owed	at	31	December	2006		

(2005:	£1,161,000).	Trade	account	receivable	from	ZGC	amounted	to	£290,000	at	31	December	2006	(2005:	£319,000).	The	amount		

	due	from	ZGC	is	interest	free,	without	fixed	repayment	terms	and	is	secured	by	their	capital	in	Fu	Duo.

4.	 The	shareholder	loans	are	part	of	shareholders’	investment	in	the	jointly	controlled	entities.	These	are	common	methods	of	making	an	

investment	in	jointly	controlled	entities	in	China.	£331,000	(2005:	nil)	was	due	from	Tianjin	Tianhui	Natural	Gas	Limited	at	the	end	of	2006.	

The	remaining	balances	relate	to	a	number	of	other	jointly	controlled	entities.

5.	 In	2005,	Interest	amounting	£18,000	received	from	the	jointly	controlled	entities	in	China,	Zhuhai	Special	Economic	Zone	South	China	

Petroleum	Company	Limited	by	South	China	Terminals	Limited.	50	percent	shared	by	the	Group	amounted	to	£9,000.	South	China	

Terminals	Limited	has	changed	to	subsidiary	of	the	Group	in	the	year	of	2006.

6.	 Sales	from	a	Group’s	subsidiary,	Fortune	Oil	Holding	Limited,	to	Vitol	Asia	Pte	Ltd	amounted	to	£2,966,000	(2005:	Nil)	Current	account	

due	from	Vitol	Asia	Pte	Ltd	who	is	represented	on	the	Board,	was	£392,000	(2005:	£97,000).
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27. Disposals

During the year of 2006, the Group disposed of its 100% interests in several subsidiaries in the Fu Duo group for £378,000.

Tianjin Tianhui Natural Gas Limited (“TTH”) ceased to be subsidiary in 2006 when the Group’s effective interest was diluted 
from 48% to 40% with a drop in the proportion of the board control to 50%. As a result, TTH becomes a jointly controlled 
entity.

    Fu Duo
Amount in £’000 TTH  subsidiaries  Total

Net assets disposed of:
Intangible assets –  39  39
Property, plant and equipment 694  193  887
Cash and cash equivalents 17  56  73
Trade and other receivables 103  50  153
Inventory 8  31  39
Trade and other payables (704 ) (163 ) (867 )

  118  206  324
Minority interest (48 ) –  (48 )

  70  206  276
Capital injection into interest in jointly controlled entity 170  –  170
Reclassification to interest in jointly controlled entity (256 ) –  (256 )
Consideration –  (388 ) (388 )

Profit on disposal (16 ) (182 ) (198 )

Satisfied by:
Cash injected into interests in jointly controlled entity (170 ) –  (170 )
Cash consideration –  388  388
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (17 ) (56 ) (73 )

Cumulative translation differences in respect of the above subsidiaries were immaterial.

28. Post Balance Sheet Event

US$50 million loan facility for a whole owned subsidiary
The Group has signed a US$50 million loan facility for Fortune Oil PRC Holdings Limited, the Company’s principal holding 
company in Hong Kong. The facility is a dual currency (US dollars and Hong Kong dollars) term loan with a term of 3 years 
and a margin of 1.1% above LIBOR or HIBOR. The covenants are standard for this type of syndicated loan and the facility is 
guaranteed by Fortune Oil PLC. The proceeds will be used to finance Fortune Oil’s investment requirements in the China 
energy sector.
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five year summary

 UK GAAP in IFRS format

Amount in £’000 2006  2005  2004  2003  2002

Revenue: group and share of joint ventures 175,771  143,057  118,088  98,950  80,885

Profit before taxation 9,271   5,404  6,644  4,723  5,164

Taxation (617 ) (544 ) (423 ) (238 ) 46

Profit after taxation 8,654   4,860  6,221   4,485  5,210

Equity minority interests (4,347 ) (2,068 ) (3,590 ) (3,200 ) (4,060 )

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 4,307  2,792  2,631  1,285  1,150

Employment of Group Capital

Non-current assets 49,235   50,062  39,366  41,354  46,675

Other net current assets/(liabilities) 6,562   8,138  9,604  (13,964 ) 1,060

Non-current liabilities:

Borrowings (5,567 ) (7,126 ) (6,021 ) (1,279 ) (18,109 )

Deferred tax liabilities (264 ) (336 ) (354 ) (456 ) (863 )

Net assets 49,966   50,738  42,595  25,655  28,763

Basic earnings per share 0.24p   0.16p  0.17p  0.09p  0.08p

The results and balance sheet extracts for 2002 and 2003 are as extracted from the Group’s UK GAAP financial statement  

for the year ended 31 December 2003. They are presented in IFRS format for the purposes of the Five Year Summary.
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company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2006

Amount in £’000 Note 2006  2005

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 2  2   2 

Investments  3  55,926   55,993 

  55,928   55,995 

Current assets

Debtors: Amount falling due within one year 4  56   53 

Cash at bank and in hand   81   27 

  137   80 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 5  (117 ) (127 )

Net current assets or liabilities  20   (47 )

Net assets  55,948   55,948 

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 6  18,363   18,351 

Investment in own shares 8  (795 ) (760 )

Share premium account 8  22   37,344 

Merger relief reserves 8  19,048   19,048 

Capital reduction account 8  3,327   3,327 

Profit and loss account 8  15,983   (21,362 )

Equity shareholders’ equity  55,948   55,948 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 11 May 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Li Ching John Pexton

Director Director

The notes on pages 75 to 79 form part of these financial statements
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1. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable UK 
accounting standards and law. As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of 
the parent company has not been separately presented in the financial statements. A cash flow statement has not been 
presented as permitted by FRS 1 (revised) “Cash flow statements”.

Fixed asset investments
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost, less provision for  
any impairment.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Where there is evidence of impairment, fixed assets 
are written down to their recoverable amount. Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected  
useful lives.

Share-based payments
The cost of providing share-based payments to employees is charged to the income statement over the vesting period of 
the related share options or share allocations. The cost is based on the fair value of the options or shares allocated and 
the number of awards expected to vest. The fair value of each option is determined using an appropriate pricing model at 
the date of granting. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the fair value of the share. Non-market related 
performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the number of awards expected to vest.

Investment in own shares
Company shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trust are presented within reserves until such time
as the interest in shares is transferred unconditionally to the employees. Costs of administering the Trust are charged to
the income statement as incurred.
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2. Tangible Fixed assets

   Fixtures
   and
Amount in £’000   fittings

Cost
At 1 January 2006   26
Additions   1

At 31 December 2006   27

Depreciation
At 1 January 2006   24
Provided for the year   1

At 31 December 2006   25

Net book value
At 31 December 2006   2 

At 31 December 2005   2

3. Fixed assets investments

   Loans to
   subsidiary
Amount in £’000   undertakings

Cost
At 1 January 2006   67,481
Loan addition   531
Loan repayment    (598 )

At 31 December 2006   67,414

Amounts provided
At 1 January and 31 December 2006   11,488

Net book value   
At 31 December 2006   55,926 

At 31 December 2005   55,993

The loans to subsidiary undertakings reflect funding provided to Group companies in PRC. The net amount recorded reflects 
the amounts invested in the main trading companies that are capable of being repaid from expected future cash flows.
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4. Debtors: amount falling due within one year

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Debtors – amount falling due within 1 year
Other debtors 17  18
Prepayments and accrued income 39  35

 56  53 

5. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Other creditors 57  61
Accruals and deferred income 4  60
Creditors for taxation and social security 56  6

 117  127

6. Share capital

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Authorised
2,400,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p each 24,000  24,000

Issued share of 1p each fully paid
1,836,335,868 ordinary shares of 1p each 18,363  18,351
(2005: 1,835,085,868 ordinary share of 1p each)

The increase in issued shares was due to the exercise of share options during the year.
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7. Share-based payments

Analysis of share options as at 31 December 2006:

  2006 2005

    Weighted    Weighted
    average    average
  Options  exercise price  Options   exercise price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 19,480,000  3.89p  14,750,000  2.75p
Granted during the year –  –  6,230,000  6.30p
Exercised during the year (1,250,000 ) 2.75p  (1,500,000 ) 2.75p
Lapsed during the year (4,110,000 ) 2.84p  –  –

Outstanding at the end of the year 14,120,000  4.30p  19,480,000  3.89p

Exercisable at the end of the year 8,000,000  2.75p  13,250,000  2.75p

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 6.01 pence 
(2005: 6.26 pence).

The options outstanding at the end of the year have an exercise price in a range from 2.75 pence up to 6.32 pence and a 
weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.9 years (2005: 4.8 years).

All awards under the 1990 Unapproved Scheme and the China Scheme (with details on page 33) were issued prior to  
7 November 2002. No share options were issued by the Group between 7 November 2002 and 31 December 2004.  
On 8 June 2005, share options were granted to certain members of staff under the “2004 Approved Scheme” and “2004 
Unapproved Scheme”. (with details on page 33 and 34) These have been valued using a Trinomial valuation model with the 
following assumptions:

Fair value at grant date 3.39p
Share price at grant date 6.32p
Exercise price 6.32p
Expected volatility 46.357%
Option life 10 years
Expected dividend yield nil
Risk-free interest rate 4.145%

The Group recognised total expenses of £139,000 (2005: £63,000) related to share-based payments transactions during  
the year.
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8. Reserves

Company Investment  Share  Merger  Capital  Profit
  in own   premium   relief  reduction  and loss
Amount in £’000 shares   account  reserves  account  account  Total

Balance at 1 January 2005 (725 ) 37,318  19,048  3,327  (21,338 ) 37,630
Additions (35 ) 26  –  –  –  (9 )
Share-based payments –  –  –  –  63  63
Loss for the year –  –  –  –  (87 ) (87 )

Balance at at 1 January 2006 (760 ) 37,344  19,048  3,327  (21,362 ) 37,597
Additions (35 ) 22  –  –  –  (13 )
Reduction of capital   (37,344 )     37,344  -
Share-based payments –  –  –  –  139  139
Loss for the year –  –  –  –  (138 ) (138 )

Balance at 31 December 2006 (795 ) 22  19,048  3,327  15,983  37,585

The shares are held by JTC Trustees Limited as the trustee for future distribution to employees. Following the shareholder 
approval at the AGM on 25 June 2004, the 2004 Senior Executive Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is currently operated by the 
trustee of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust, subject to the rules of the Long Term Incentive Plan as amended in 2004 
(“LTIP”). There is a specified Remuneration Committee Policy in relation to the operation of the Plan under the LTIP rules.

Additional details are given in the Remuneration Report. At 31 December 2006 the investment represented 3.2 per cent 
(2005:3.3 per cent) of the called up ordinary share capital of Fortune Oil PLC. 

The total number of shares held in the name of JTC Trustees Limited is 59,413,837 (2005: 60,000,000).

The market value of shares was £3,375,000 at 31 December 2006 (2005: £3,528,000).

Following shareholder approval at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 21 June 2006, a Court order was issued on  
12 July 2006 authorising the cancellation of the Company’s share premium account as at 31 December 2005 of  
£37,344,000 of which the sum of £21,362,000 was set-off against the deficit on the Company’s profit and loss account  
and the sum of £15,982,000 applied in creating a special reserve. Following satisfaction in full of all creditors of the Company 
as at the date of the Petition who had not formally consented to the cancellation of the share premium account, the sum of 
£15,982,000 held in the special reserve was transferred to the Company’s profit and loss account.

9. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

Amount in £’000 2006  2005

Loss for the financial year (138 ) (87 )
Issue of share capital 34  41 
Investment in own shares (35 ) (35 )
Share-based payments 139  63

Net reduction in shareholders’ funds –  (18 )
Opening equity shareholders’ funds 55,948  55,966

Closing equity shareholders’ funds 55,948  55,948
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notes






